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Australia’s largest domestic 
pure play industrial REIT.

Assets characterised by
• in-fill locations close to key infrastructure; and
• fit-for-purpose – attracting high quality tenants.

Value-add initiatives illustrate hands-on,  
active management via
• leasing;
• refurbishments;
• asset repositioning; and
• development.

Included in the S&P/ASX 200 Index and 
FTSE EPRA Nareit Global Developed Index.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT OF COUNTRY

Our group manages property throughout Australia and  
New Zealand. Accordingly, Centuria pays its respects to the 
traditional owners of the land in each country, to their unique 
cultures and to their elders past, present and emerging. 
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WE ARE HONEST, TRANSPARENT  
AND RESPECTFUL

As Centurians, we take pride in how we develop strong 
and lasting relationships within our business and with 
our investors, tenants and partners. We do this in how we 
communicate with, support, and respect one another.

WE WORK AND THRIVE AS AN  
INTEGRATED AND AGILE TEAM

At Centuria, we are bigger than the individual parts.  
We embrace diversity and collaborate with colleagues  
and partners to achieve success.

WE SUPPORT EACH OTHER TO GROW 

We seek opportunities to encourage personal 
development and support collective growth. We reward 
and celebrate success and like to promote from within.

WE DO WHAT IT TAKES

We love challenges and finding unique ways to solve 
problems. We have a focus on growth and a commitment 
to always act ethically and in the best interests of our 
stakeholders.

TRANSPARENT COOPERATION

Transparent cooperation means our teams are 
accountable and responsible, creating autonomy without 
politics. We are honest in our communication, we build 
trust and we value one-another’s opinions, leading to 
stronger collaboration with our stakeholders.

TRANSACTIONAL VELOCITY

Transactional velocity means the speed that we do 
business. We mobilise our people to seize opportunities 
and make quick decisions. What takes others months to 
transact, takes us only days.

THOROUGH PROCESS

Our processes result in thorough analysis. Our experienced 
team knows where the risks and opportunities lie, which 
leads to well-informed decision-making.

PERSONAL INTERACTION

At Centuria, it’s personal. As a Centurian you will be well 
cared for. As a client, we look after your interests as if 
they were our own. We create a sense of belonging and 
build relationships through the way we treat and work 
with one another.

Centuria values Centuria capabilities

Centuria's values and capabilities

Our core values are the essence of our identity – the principles, beliefs and 
philosophy of our brand.

Our values and capabilities support our vision and shape our culture to create 
a sense of belonging. We prioritise strong and lasting relationships within our 
business and with our investors, tenants and partners. Centuria mobilises to 
seize opportunities, we make well-informed decisions and we are transparently 
accountable.
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About us

Centuria Industrial REIT (ASX: CIP) is a real estate investment trust (REIT). Centuria 
Property Funds No. 2 Limited (CPF2L), is the Responsible Entity for CIP and is a 
wholly owned subsidiary of Centuria Capital Group (ASX: CNI or “Centuria”). Centuria 
is included in the S&P/ASX200 Index and is a specialist, external funds manager 
with more than $20 billion of assets under management across Australasia. 

Centuria specialises in real estate sectors including 
industrial, healthcare, decentralised office, agriculture, 
large-format retail, daily-needs retail and real estate 
finance. Its suite of investment products includes listed and 
unlisted real estate funds across debt and equity markets. 
Additionally, Centuria provides investment bond options.

CIP is Australia’s largest domestic pure-play industrial 
REIT with 88 high-quality assets worth $4.1billion, as at 
30 June 2022. CIP’s assets are positioned in key urban in-
fill locations lending themselves to last-mile fulfilment with 
easy access to densely populated areas and proximity to 
major infrastructure such as arterial roads, rail freight lines, 
seaports and airports. CIP has a highly diversified portfolio 
with geographically disbursed assets, varying customer 
profiles and investments in a broad range of industrial sub-
sectors including production manufacturing, distribution 
centres, transport logistics centres, data centres and cold 
storage facilities. CIP is included in the S&P/ASX 200 Index 
and the FTSE EPRA Nareit Global Developed Index, the 
latter enabling the REIT to be more easily compared with 
international peers.

FY22 was another year of substantial growth for CIP, 
securing 23 high-quality industrial acquisitions and 
three development sites worth $765million1 in addition 
to recycling $45million of capital through the divestment 
of non-core assets, which achieved an average 32% 
premium to prior book values. Additionally, CIP secured 
more than 185,200sqm of agreed lease terms across 49 
transactions, representing 14% of the portfolio’s Gross 
Lettable Area (GLA). Strong underlying market rental 
growth drove significant positive re-leasing spreads 
averaging 11% over prior passing rents2.

The REIT benefited a high 98.8% portfolio occupancy and a 
strong 8.3-year weighted average lease expiry (WALE). Its 
portfolio benefitted from a $326million valuation uplift, which 
underpinned net tangible assets (NTA) of $4.24 per unit as at 
30 June 2022, a 11% increase over FY21. This, combined with 
distributions of 17.3cpu, delivered a Return on Equity of 15.2% 
to unitholders throughout the 2022 financial year.

Centuria remains CIP’s largest unitholder with a 16.1% 
co-investment as at 30 June 20223.

CENTURIA CAPITAL (CNI) FUNDS MANAGEMENT PLATFORM

Portfolio  
construction

A portfolio of high quality Australian industrial assets diversified 
by geography, sub-sector, tenants and lease expiry.

Unlock opportunities  
to create further value

Reposition assets and execute value-add initiatives to maximise 
returns for unitholders.

Active  
management

Focus on ‘fit for purpose’ assets that align to the needs of our 
high-quality customers to ensure high retention and occupancy.

Capital  
management A robust and diversified capital structure with appropriate gearing.

VISION

To be Australia’s leading domestic pure play industrial REIT.

CENTURIA INDUSTRIAL REIT IS

Australia’s largest domestic ASX-listed pure play 
industrial REIT. Overseen by an active management 
team with deep real estate expertise. Strongly 
supported by Centuria Capital Group.

A CLEAR AND SIMPLE STRATEGY

29 PENELOPE CRESECENT, ARNDELL PARK, NSW

Note: AUM as at 30 June 2022. All figures above are in Australian dollars (currency exchange ratio of AU$1.000:NZ$1.1088 as at 30 June 2022).  
Numbers presented may not add up precisely to the totals provided due to rounding.
1. Includes asset exchanged to be settled, cash and other assets.

1. Before transaction costs. Includes assets exchanged in FY21 but settled in FY22.
2. On a like for like basis, excludes capital expenditure incurred.
3. Includes ownership by associates of Centuria Capital Group.

$20.6bn GROUP AUM1

$19.8bn REAL ESTATE AUM

$6.8bn 
LISTED REAL ESTATE

$13.0bn 
UNLISTED REAL ESTATE

$0.8bn 
INVESTMENT BONDS

$2.3bn
MULTI ASSET OPEN 

END FUNDS

CENTURIA LIFE

CENTURIA  
INVESTMENT BONDS

GUARDIAN FRIENDLY  
SOCIETY

$2.4bn
MULTI  
ASSET  
FUNDS

$8.3bn
SINGLE  
ASSET  
FUNDS

$0.3bn
ASSET PLUS  

LIMITED  
NZX:APL

$2.4bn
CENTURIA  

OFFICE REIT  
ASX:COF

$4.1bn
CENTURIA  

INDUSTRIAL REIT  
ASX:CIP
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Deliver income and capital growth to investors from a portfolio  
of high quality Australian industrial assets.
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STUDLEY COURT, DERRIMUT VIC

88
high quality assets

98.8%
portfolio occupancy1

$4.1bn
portfolio value

8.3yrs
portfolio WALE1

PORTFOLIO

Key metrics 
as at 30 June 2022

1. By income.
2. Based on $2.99 unit price as at 2 August 2022.
3. NTA per unit is calculated as net assets less goodwill divided by number of units on issue.

FOCUS

A quality portfolio 
of fit-for-purpose 
industrial assets 
situated within in-fill 
locations and close to 
key infrastructure.18.2cpu

delivered upgraded  
FY22 FFO guidance

5.4%
forecast FY23  
DPU yield2

17.3cpu
delivered on FY22  
DPU guidance

$4.24
net tangible assets  
per unit3

FINANCIAL
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179 STUDLEY COURT

159-169 STUDLEY COURT

69 STUDLEY COURT
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Exposure to the major industrial sub-sectors1 

MANUFACTURING

25%
portfolio value

VIRGINIA WARWICK FARM

DATA CENTRES

14%
portfolio value

CLAYTON

DISTRIBUTION CENTRES

37%
portfolio value

WARNERVALE DERRIMUT

TRANSPORT LOGISTICS

15%
portfolio value

DERRIMUT CHULLORA

COLD STORAGE

7%
portfolio value

GIRRAWEEN PARKINSON

A SELECTION OF OUR TENANTS AND ASSETS

1. By value. 2% development projects.



Centuria Industrial REIT – Annual Report 2022 |     1110      |  Centuria Industrial REIT – Annual Report 2022

Roger Dobson

CHAIRMAN

Jesse Curtis

FUND MANAGER

Dear Unitholders,

It is our pleasure to provide Centuria Industrial REIT’s (ASX:CIP) 2022 Annual 
Report, which outlines the Trust’s considerable growth underpinned by 
strong leasing activity, double-digit rental increases, strategic transactions 
and healthy valuation gains across a high quality portfolio of industrial assets 
throughout Australia.

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

During FY22, CIP maintained a strong balance sheet with 
gearing at 33.2% and an interest cover ratio of 5.4 times, 
providing substantial headroom to our debt covenants. 
CIP broadened its capital sources through an inaugural 
six year, $350 million medium term notice issuance and 
was assigned a Moody’s Baa2 rating with a stable outlook. 
This issuance, together with the introduction of two new 
international lenders, increased CIP’s weighted average 
debt maturity to 4.4 years (FY21: 3.1 years). Having ended 
FY22 with $259 million of cash and debt headroom, and 
with only $50 million of debt maturing in FY23, CIP’s 
balance sheet remains robust and continues to be well 
supported by its financiers. 

ACTIVE PORTFOLIO MANAGEMENT

Our team’s active management approach drove strong 
leasing success across 49 separate leasing transactions 
with terms agreed over more than 185,000sqm during 
the year, accounting for 14% of the portfolio. Re-leasing 
spreads showed 11% growth over prior passing rents. This 
strong leasing activity along with strong sector tailwinds also 
supported valuation growth, up $326 million (+11%) in FY22.

CIP’s income is well supported with over half (56%) 
generated by its top 20 blue chip customers. Importantly, 
20% of CIP’s portfolio income is derived from CPI-indexed 
leases and circa 30% of portfolio leases expire before FY26, 
providing further opportunities to harness the market’s 
strong rental growth. Most significantly, 98% of the REIT’s 
leases provide net or triple net terms. CIP’s portfolio is now 
supported by 167 diverse tenant customers adding to the 
resilience of CIP’s income streams.

At Centuria, we are focused on building strong 
relationships with tenant customers, assisting them to 
expand their business by offering multiple sites across 
CIPs’ geographically dispersed portfolio. This ‘networking 
effect’ reduces downtime on CIP’s vacancies, increases 
customer tenant retention and provides invaluable insights 
into future demand to leverage the REIT’s development 
pipeline. Multi-location customers now account for 33% of 
CIP’s gross lettable area. During FY22, CIP had an average 
of one month downtime, which is illustrative of the REIT’s 
scale and customer focus.

UNLOCKING VALUE-ADD INITIATIVES

CIP’s leasing success has extended to its value-add projects. 
During the period, the REIT completed two refurbishment 
works. The first, at 160 Newton Road, Wetherill Park NSW, 
increased the facility’s WALE from 0.9 years to seven years, 
which also resulted in a 21% valuation uplift. The second, 
at 8 Lexington Drive, Bella Vista NSW, resulted in a 10 year 
lease with Amazon, providing a 5.5% yield on cost and a 45% 
increase in value from its acquisition.

Development activities provide CIP with the opportunity 
to introduce new, sustainable assets into its portfolio, 
which capitalises on the current, strong rental market. The 
recently completed 42 Hoepner Road, Bundamba QLD, is 
now 100% leased to two quality tenants, Australia Post and 
Jaycar. The Southside Industrial Estate, which will provide 
six units totalling c.40,300sqm, is yet to be completed but 
is already 67% pre-leased. 

Additionally, a long standing strategy is to build scale within 
land constrained urban infill submarkets. CIP has now achieved 
ten separate examples of consolidated landholdings in key 
industrial markets across Australia, such as Wetherill Park, NSW 
and Derrimut, Victoria. This consolidation strategy provides 
optionality for future development sites of scale, to meet the 
growing demand from industrial users, while maintaining 
income and access to rental growth. It also provides diversity 
across tenancy size and type to facilitate higher portfolio 
retention – leveraging the portfolio’s ‘networking effect’.

TRANSACTIONS

CIP’s portfolio expanded in FY22 with strategic 
acquisitions within urban infill markets that increase the 
REIT’s exposure to growing market rents and build its 
value-add pipeline. Portfolio scale increased with 23 high 
quality industrial acquisitions and three development sites 
secured for $765 million. Through targeted acquisitions, 
85% of CIP’s portfolio is now exposed to core urban infill 
markets. The REIT also divested $45 million worth of assets 
at a 32% average premium to book value, with proceeds 
recycled into accretive opportunities. As at 30 June 
2022, CIP’s portfolio consists of 88 high quality industrial 
properties worth $4.1 billion.

GOVERNANCE AND SUSTAINABILITY

CIP is externally managed by Centuria and aligns itself 
to Centuria’s three-fold sustainability framework defined 
by: Conscious of Climate Change, Valued Stakeholders, 
and Responsible Business Principles – with each area 
aligned to environment, social or governance themes, 
respectively. Centuria Property Funds No 2 Limited 
(CPF2L) is the responsible entity for CIP and a wholly-
owned subsidiary of Centuria. 

During FY22, CPF2L Board changes included Nicholas 
Collishaw retiring as a Non-Executive Director (NED) and 
Jennifer Cook appointed as an Independent NED. The 
CPF2L board now has 50% female representation. 

In October 2021, Centuria published its first Sustainability 
Report outlining ESG initiatives undertaken by CIP 
including; initial disclosures aligned to the Task Force 
on Climate-Related Financial Disclosure (TCFD) 
recommendations, disclosures aligned to Global Reporting 
Initiative (GRI) Sustainability Reporting Standards and 
delivery of Centuria’s second Modern Slavery Statement.

Letter from the Chairman  
and Fund Manager

Industrial property remained highly resilient across FY22 
in spite of the prevailing COVID-19 pandemic. Positive 
industry tailwinds further accelerated occupier demand 
throughout the year, reducing the national vacancy rate 
to 0.8%. Australia now has one of the lowest industrial 
vacancy rates in the world and with limited medium term 
supply, the industrial property market is experiencing 
significant market rental growth. 

CIP, as Australia’s largest listed Industrial REIT, is well 
placed to benefit from favourable market conditions with 
85% of the portfolio located in land constrained urban 
infill markets, where tenant demand remains highest and 
industrial space is in short supply. 

The year ahead presents prevailing inflation and rising 
interest rates, however, CIP’s high quality portfolio of 
industrial assets, located in urban infill markets, holds a 

strong position with high occupancy and a secure tenant 
base. With these fundamentals, CIP is positively positioned 
to execute its strategy to deliver income and capital 
growth for unitholders over the medium and longer term.

FINANCIAL RESULTS 

Throughout FY22, CIP reported a $367.5 million statutory 
profit. Funds from Operations (FFO) of $111.7 million, a 
22% increase (FY21: $91.4 million). FFO of 18.2 cents per 
unit (cpu), were delivered in line with upgraded earnings 
guidance. Distributions of 17.3cpu were delivered in line 
with guidance and combined with Net Tangible Assets 
(NTA) increasing 11% to $4.24 per unit (FY21: $3.82) 
provided a strong return on equity of 15.2% for unitholders. 
Portfolio Weighted Average Capitalisation Rate (WACR) 
compressed to 4.19% during the period.
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By the REIT’s nature, CIP has no staff and is solely a portfolio of assets. 
Therefore, the REIT’s social initiatives are measured through both Centuria’s 
annual tenant satisfaction survey and employee engagement survey. Results 
showed that 94% of employees enjoy working at Centuria and 96% of 
tenants are satisfied with Centuria as a landlord.

CIP’s specific environmental considerations include pipeline industrial 
developments targeting a 5-Star Green Star rating. During FY22, the installation 
of 3,300 solar panels began on CIP’s Warnervale asset as part of a 1.5 MW 
system, supporting key tenant client, Woolworths’ 100% green electricity 
goal by 2025. CIP is also an industry participant in the NABERS Accelerate 
programme for Warehouses and Cold Stores, which aims to create a 
standardised energy efficient rating for warehouses and cold storage facilities. 

SUMMARY AND OUTLOOK

During FY22, CIP delivered strong results as Australia’s largest domestic 
pure play industrial REIT. Substantial leasing was undertaken and significant 
re-leasing spreads were achieved, reflective of the strength of the industrial 
market. Strategic acquisition of short WALE, value-add and development 
assets re-risked the portfolio to gain greater near-term exposure to rental 
growth while divesting a number of assets at a premium to book value.

Worldwide industrial real estate continues to benefit from strong tailwinds in 
ecommerce and a tenant focus on securing supply chain resilience driving 
strong demand. Typically, supply of new space brings the supply-demand 
equation back into balance but with labour shortages, supply change disruption 
and limited industrial zoned land, demand continues to outstrip supply. 
Additionally, substantial increases in both industrial land prices and construction 
costs put upward pressure on economic rents. This backdrop creates an 
environment for prolonged rental growth, particularly within urban infill markets.

Looking to the year ahead, inflation and a change in the interest rate 
environment has increased debt costs. In making FY23 guidance, CIP has 
taken into consideration the current inflationary environment and rising 
interest rates and the forecasted impacts of this on guidance. However, 
national industrial markets remain strong, and CIP anticipates delivering 
like-for-like net property income growth throughout FY23.

CIP provides FY23 FFO guidance of 17.0 cents per unit and distribution 
guidance of 16.0 cents per unit, with distributions expected to be paid in 
equal quarterly instalments.

We thank CIP unitholders for your continued support and look forward to 
updating you further throughout FY23.

Yours sincerely,

1 ASHBURN ROAD, BUNDAMBA QLD

Board of Directors

Roger Dobson

CHAIRMAN AND INDEPENDENT  
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 

Jennifer Cook

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE 
DIRECTOR

Peter Done

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE 
DIRECTOR

Natalie Collins

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE 
DIRECTOR 

Senior Management

Jason Huljich

JOINT CEO

Jesse Curtis

HEAD OF INDUSTRIAL AND FUND 
MANAGER CENTURIA INDUSTRIAL REIT

Michael Ching

ASSISTANT FUND MANAGER  
CENTURIA INDUSTRIAL REIT

Ross Lees

HEAD OF FUNDS MANAGEMENT

Anna Kovarik

GROUP CHIEF RISK OFFICER AND 
COMPANY SECRETARY

Ara Galstian 

DEPUTY CFO LISTED

Tim Au-Yeung 

SENIOR FINANCE MANAGER

Roger Dobson

CHAIRMAN

Jesse Curtis

FUND MANAGER

Letter from the Chairman  
and Fund Manager
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Financial snapshot FY22 FY21

Statutory profit/(loss) ($m) 367.5 611.2

Statutory profit/(loss) per unit (cpu) 59.9 117.7

Funds from operations1 ($m) 111.7 91.4

Funds from operations per unit (cpu) 18.2 17.6

Distribution ($m) 109.6 91.9

Distribution per unit (cpu) 17.3 17.0

Annualised distribution yield2 (%) 6.1 4.6

Return on equity3 (%) 15.2 41.8

Balance sheet metrics FY22 FY21

Investment properties ($m) 4,100.9 2,945.1

Total assets ($m) 4,148.0 3,105.9

Total liabilities ($m) 1,458.7 983.6

Net assets ($m) 2,689.3 2,122.3

Units on issue (m) 634.9 551.8

NTA per unit4 ($) 4.24 3.83

Gearing5 (%) 33.2 27.8

1. FFO is CIP’s underlying and recurring earnings from its operations. This is calculated as the statutory net profit adjusted for certain non-
cash and other items.

2. Annualised yield based on CIP unit closing price of $2.84 on 30 June 2022 and $3.72 on 30 June 2021.
3. Return on equity calculated as (closing NTA per unit minus opening NTA per unit plus distributions) divided by opening NTA per unit.  

Past performance is not a reliable indicator of future performance.
4. NTA per unit is calculated as net assets less goodwill divided by number of units on issue.
5. Gearing is defined as total liabilities divided by total assets.

AMAZON, 27-30 SHARP COURT, CAVAN SA
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243 BRADMAN STREET, ACACIA RIDGE QLD 
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PORTFOLIO WEIGHTING

NSW  
& ACT 31 100  5.7
 total portfolio (%) occupancy (%) WALE (yrs)

VIC 38 99.3  10.5
 total portfolio (%) occupancy (%) WALE (yrs)

QLD 22 96.1  10.1
 total portfolio (%) occupancy (%) WALE (yrs)

WA 6 100  3.3
 total portfolio (%) occupancy (%) WALE (yrs)

SA 3 100  7.6
 total portfolio (%) occupancy (%) WALE (yrs)

Portfolio overview 
As at 30 June 2022

PORTFOLIO SNAPSHOT

Included in the  

S&P/ASX 200 index 
and FTSE/EPRA NAREIT 
Global Developed Index.

98%
freehold property 

ownership across  

CIP portfolio.

85%
of portfolio located in 

urban infill markets.

NT

WA

SA

QLD

VIC

NSW

TAS

ACT

TOTAL PORTFOLIO FY22 ACTIVE SUB-PORTFOLIO1 FY22 TOTAL PORTFOLIO FY21

Number of assets 88 86 62

Book value $4,101m $3,241m $2,945m

WACR 4.19% 4.42% 4.54%

GLA 1,330,182 sqm 1,258,463 sqm 1,083,814 sqm

Average asset size 15,156 sqm 14,633 sqm 17,480 sqm

Occupancy by income 98.8% 98.6% 96.9%

WALE by income 8.3 years 4.7 years 9.6 years

Landholding2 320 ha 309 ha 295 ha

Freehold ownership 98.5% 98.1% 98.1%

Located in infill markets 85% 81% 80%

Number of tenant customers 167 166 119

1. Excludes assets with a WALE of greater than 15 years, being Telstra Data Centre, Clayton VIC and 46 Robinson Road, East Virginia QLD.
2. Includes landholding on development projects.
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167
tenant customers 
providing insights  
and visibility on  
future demand.

↑
Increased development 
pipeline and critical 
mass in infill markets 
providing high quality 
accommodation.

32 
days average 
downtime in FY22.

65% 
customer retention 

over FY22.

TENANT CUSTOMER RANKING
% OF 

INCOME

1 Telstra 9%

2 Arnott's Group 7%

3 Woolworths 4%

4 AWH 4%

5 Visy 4%

6 Greens 3%

7 Scott's Refrigerated Logistics 3%

8 Fantastic Furniture 2%

9 Bidfood Australia 2%

10 API 2%

11 Opal 2%

12 DB Schenker 2%

13 The Reject Shop 2%

14 RPF 2%

15 K&S Corporation Limited 1%

16 Complete Fire Supply Co 1%

17 GMK Logistics 1%

18 Markwell Cold Storage 1%

19 Yamaha 1%

20 Amazon 1%
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High quality tenant customers

We have leveraged CIP’s scale to generate a ‘networking effect’ to grow and 
service customers across multiple locations. Multi-location customers now 
make up 33% of portfolio GLA.

TOP 20 TENANT CUSTOMERS

207-219 BROWNS ROAD, NOBLE PARK VIC

TENANT INDUSTRY SECTOR DIVERSIFICATIONS1

98%
of leases are net or triple net leases.

167
diverse tenant customers across CIP portfolio.

Select tenant customers expanded or added in FY22.

Amazon

Australia Post

Pushys

DB Schenker

Mercedes Benz

1. By income.

28% ASX Listed

4% Listed multinational

22% Multinational

1% Government

33% National

12% Other



FY22 transactions 

ACQUISITIONS

90-118 Bolinda Rd, Campbellfield  $36.7mVIC 

12
assets

30%
FY22  acquisitions

DIVESTMENTS

QLD 

4 
assets

11%
FY22  acquisitions

51 Depot Street, Banyo  $20.3m 99 Quill Way, HendersonWA 

$10.5m

56-88 Lisbon St, Fairfield   $200.2m 30 Clay Place, Eastern CreekNSW 

6 
assets

50%
FY22  acquisitions

NSW 

$34.5m

$765m 
of urban infill 
industrial 
acquisitions.1

100%
of acquisitions in 
key infill markets.
Land constrained 
markets expected 
to deliver outsized 
rental growth.

4.3 year
average WALE on 
acquisitions.2

Opportunity to 
capture rent reversion 
in the short term.

Divestment of two 

non-core assets in 

FY22 for

$45m.

32% 

average premium to 
prior book values.

Proceeds to fund  
accretive acquisitions 
and developments.

SA 

2
assets

3%
FY22  acquisitions

27-31 Sharp Court, Cavan $23.3m

WA 

2
assets

3%
FY22  acquisitions

204-208 Bannister Road, Canning Vale $10.1m
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45 FULTON DRIVE, DERIMUT VIC

1. Before transaction costs. Includes assets 
exchanged in FY21 but settled in FY22.

2. By income at time of acquisition.
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Wetherill Park 

NSW

CIP acquired three adjoining 
assets in FY22, consolidating 
a 5.3ha holding in the last mile 
infill market of Wetherill Park.

The infill location has superior 
access to the arterial road 
network driving increased 
tenant demand.

There is future development 
potential in this land 
constrained market, including 
potential multi storey projects, 
while maintaining income.

Derrimut  

VIC

CIP has consolidated five 
holdings on Fulton Drive and 
Boundary Road, creating an 
estate-like presence with a 
range of asset types and sizes.

CIP owns a total of ten assets, 
totalling over 25ha, within the 
infill market of Derrimut, worth 
$245m.

CASE STUDY

CASE STUDY

Consolidating land holdings of scale  
in key urban infill markets

Creating development 
optionality while  
maintaining income.

Establishing scale and 
diversity in tenancy size 
and type.

Scaled footprint in land 
constrained markets, 
servicing last mile and 
eCommerce users.

DERRIMUT, VIC

WETHERILL PARK, NSW
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Short term leasing opportunities across c.420k sqm

12 Williamson Rd,  
Ingleburn NSW

55% valuation increase since 
renewed Real Pet Food Co on a new 
15-year triple net lease.

103 Stirling Crescent & 155 
Lakes Road, Hazelmere WA

17% valuation increase following the 
renewal of Thiess on a 5-year term.

8 Lexington Drive,  
Bella Vista NSW

33% valuation increase following 
repositioning work and new 10-year 
lease to Amazon.

KEY VALUATION MOVEMENTS

STATE
FY22 

VALUATION
FY21 

VALUATION
VALUATION 

MOVEMENT2

FY22 
WACR3

FY21 
WACR3

MOVEMENT   
WACR3

Like for like portfolio/weighted average 3,246.3 2,920.5 325.8 4.19% 4.53% (0.33%)

Acquisitions  777.1  -  777.1 4.17% - -

Divestments -  9.0 (9.0) - 7.75% -

Developments 77.5 15.6 61.9 - - -

Total portfolio/weighted average 4,100.9 2,945.1 1,155.9 4.19% 4.54% (0.34%)

PORTFOLIO VALUATION SUMMARY1,2

1. Past performance is not a reliable indicator of future performance.
2. Reflects gross increase. Excludes capital expenditure incurred. 
3. Weighted average capitalisation rate. 

Valuations

Terms agreed1 Over 185,206 sqm in FY22 (14% of portfolio) 

Forward expiry
Opportunities to execute new leasing initiatives 

with c.30% of leases expiring prior to FY26.

Limited expiry 
concentration risk 

No single tenant exposure greater than 2.5%  

of portfolio income over the next 3 years.

95-105 South Gippsland Hwy, 
Dandenong South VIC

Five deals totalling 27k sqm of the 
project pre-leased in FY22.

23 Selkis Road,  
Bibra Lake WA

Renewed Opal Packaging Australia 
over 19k sqm on a new 10-year lease.

92-98 Cosgrove Road, 
Enfield NSW
Renewal of 8k sqm on a new 8-year 
lease.

1. Includes heads of agreement (HOA).
2. On a net rent basis compared to prior passing rents.

Portfolio leasing

SELECT FY22 LEASING OUTCOMES

Average rental growth of

11%
2

over prior passing rents across 

49 transactions

Leasing success driving like for  
like valuation gain in FY22 of 

$326m1,2

 (+11%)

Portfolio by value externally  

revalued in June 2022

c.63%

Driving NTA per unit increase of 

11%
1

WACR3 reduced to

4.19%

$326m valuation uplift driven by active leasing and strong sector tailwinds.1,2 Delivered strong leasing outcomes across 14% of CIP’s portfolio.1

WEIGHTED AVERAGE LEASE EXPIRY (% BY INCOME)

Income WALE (Jun-21) 9.6 years

Income WALE (Jun-22) 8.3 years
53.9%

VACANT FY23 FY25FY24 FY26 FY27+

3.1%
5.9%

9.1%

12.9%

10.4%
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Asset refurbishment to 
extend useful life and 
attract quality tenants.

Opportunities to increase 
income streams within 
CIP’s portfolio.

Leveraging strong 
customer relationships 
and appetite for urban 
infill logistics.

COMPLETEDAsset repositioning  
initiatives

160 Newtown Road, Wetherill Park NSW
Acquired in July 2021.

Identified short 0.9-year WALE providing strategic 
leasing opportunity.

Completed repositioning works to meet tenant 
operational needs.

Renewed and expanded tenant across whole site on a 
new 7-year term.

Value uplift of $7m, (21%) over FY22

Leveraging Centuria’s 
acquisition capability and active 
management approach to deliver 
value-add projects.

BEFORE

AFTER

8 Lexington Drive, Bella Vista NSW

Acquired in May 2021. 

Identified opportunity to reposition the asset to benefit 
from its superior last-mile location.

Reposition undertaken.

Leased to Amazon on a new 10-year term.

Value uplift of $12m (45%) since acquisition; 5.5% yield 
on cost1.

22 HAWKINS CRESCENT, BUNDAMBA QLD

ACTIVE

1 International Drive, Westmeadows VIC
Multi-unit estate with tenancies catering to last-mile 
customers.

Short WALE of 2.0 years and rolling refurbishment works 
to take advantage of high tenant demand.

Market rents increased 22% over FY22, increasing fully 
leased yield on cost to 9.0%1.

616 Boundary Road, Richlands QLD

Repositioning work underway following expiry; expected 
to complete in 1HFY23. 

Value add opportunity to deliver higher return on 
completion of works.

Strong tenant enquiry in a market with significant rental 
growth.

1. Excluding transaction costs.
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Development

Creating modern sustainable 
industrial assets to attract high 
quality customers and income 
streams.

149 KERRY ROAD, ARCHERFIELD QLD

Deployment of Centuria’s 
extensive development 
capability.

Ability to introduce brand 
new, high quality, modern 
assets into the portfolio.

Developing sustainable 
assets with future 
pipeline targeting five-
star Green Star.

Leveraging network 
effect to expand existing 
customers and attract 
new blue-chip customers.

COMPLETED

42 Hoepner Road, Bundamba QLD

One of Australia’s first five-star Green Star industrial 
developments under new rating system. 

Fully leased to high quality tenants: Australia Post and 
Jaycar Electronics.

7.4% yield on cost delivered.

ACTIVE (UNDERWAY)

Artist's impression of  
95-105 South Gippsland Hwy, Dandenong VIC
Fund through, ~40,300 sqm multi-unit industrial estate on 
an 8ha site at a total project cost of $88.8m.

Targeting a five-star Green Star rating.

Terms agreed over 67% of the development; completion 
in 1H FY23. 

c.5% yield on cost achieved through rent growth.

Value uplift of $12m (45%) since acquisition; 5.5% yield 
on cost1.

ACTIVE (PIPELINE)

Artist's impression of  
90-118 Bolinda Road, Campbellfield VIC

Artist's impression of  
204-208 Bannister Road, Canning Vale WA

1. Excluding transaction costs.
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Sustainability at Centuria 

1. As an externally managed REIT, CIP does not directly employ any personnel. Rather, staff, pro-
cesses and governing policies come from the parent managing entity, Centuria Capital Group. 
Centuria Industrial REIT adopts Centuria’s approach to sustainability, utilising the Group's 
Sustainability Framework to focus on certain ESG initiatives.

As Australia’s largest pure play industrial REIT, 
we have an important role in leading the industry 
and supporting our stakeholders when it comes 
to sustainability. As an externally managed 
REIT1, we benefit from Centuria Capital Group's 
wider approach to sustainability. We believe 
a consistent approach across the Group is 
important, with consideration of where Centuria 
Industrial REIT may take a leadership position. 

OUR SUSTAINABILITY FRAMEWORK
The three areas of focus which define Centuria Capital's 
Sustainability Framework are aligned to cover environmental, 
social and governance aspects.

VALUED 
STAKEHOLDERS

CONSCIOUS 
OF CLIMATE 

CHANGE

RESPONSIBLE 
INVESTMENT 
PRINCIPLES

BUNDAMBA OPENING – 42 HOEPNER ROAD, BUNDAMBA QLD

Centuria is committed to honest, 
transparent, and responsible 
business practices. We do this by 
investing in our processes and 
people, equipping the Group to act 
responsibly and in the best interests 
of our stakeholders.

TRANSPARENT AND ACCOUNTABLE

To better equip our people to be transparent and 
accountable we provide ongoing training to strengthen 
our people, systems, and wider governance. 

All employees undergo regular training covering:

• code of conduct training;

• cyber security training;

• breach reporting; and

• targeted ESG training for select personnel, including 
modern slavery.

RESPONSIBLE INVESTMENT

Responsible investing is about incorporating wider 
values into our decision making process. When we 
make investment decisions we consider the ESG 
implications and what impact they may have on our 
valued stakeholders.

Over the past year, Centuria has focused on:

• a modern slavery assessment of suppliers; and

• climate change assessments of our assets.

VALUES AND CAPABILITIES

Our values and capabilities define what it means to be an 
employee at Centuria. We are committed to investing in 
our people, supporting them to realise their professional 
and personal goals.

Centuria’s second 

Sustainability Report will 

be published later this year, 

in time for Centuria Capital 

Group's 2022 Annual  

General Meeting.

Responsible investment 
principles
GOVERNANCE
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Climate change impacts the way  
we do business and the communities 
in which we operate. Increasing 
severity in weather patterns and 
the movement of capital towards 
climate resilient and low carbon 
opportunities requires a proactive 
and practical response.

CLIMATE ACTION 

We partner with our tenants to develop collaborative 
approaches to reduce emissions across our value 
chain. We accomplish this through educating and 
supporting tenants, focusing on asset upgrades, solar 
installation and considering the electrification of gas 
and diesel infrastructure at their end of life. CIP also 
seeks to collaborate with the wider industry to develop 
meaningful ways to reduce greenhouse emissions. This 
year CIP supported NABERS and the development of their 
warehouse and cold storage rating scheme. 

CLIMATE RESILIENCE

Assets within CIP have been risk assessed against 
probable climate risks under a 2°C and 4°C scenario. New 
assets are also screen for probable climate risks before 
being acquired by the fund. Asset transition plans are being 
developed for assets to aid in the mitigation of potential 

serve weather events driven by climate change.

ONGOING EFFORT TO REDUCE EMISSIONS 
ACROSS OUR VALUE CHAIN 

Delivered 2021: 21 Jay St, Townsville QLD  
In partnership with our key tenant Woolworths, a 1MW solar 
system was installed, supporting their goal to be powered 
by 100% green electricity by 2025.

Est. completion 2022: 2 Woolworths Way, Warnervale NSW 
In another effort supporting Woolworth's green goal, we are 
installing over 3,300 solar panels on a second asset.

Conscious of  
climate change
ENVIRONMENT

How will climate change affect 
Australia?

Hotter and drier conditions will lead to 
harsher bushfire weather.

Heatwaves will become even longer and 
hotter.

Higher sea levels will increase flooding  
in coastal cities and towns.

Potential severe thunderstorm days are 
expected to increase.

Droughts are likely to happen even more 
often.

Cyclones are likely to become more 
intense, but less frequent.

Extreme rainfall events are expected to 
become more intense.

Source: Climate Council 

 

Valued stakeholders
SOCIAL

A valued stakeholder is one we 
seek to assist in the creation of 
long-term shared value. We define 
our stakeholders as our customers 
(tenants and investors), suppliers, 
industry bodies, communities in 
which we operate and our employees.

CUSTOMER FOCUSED

Our customers are important stakeholders. We undertake 
annual tenant engagement surveys to better connect 
and understand how we can better support them, while 
proactively engaging with our investors to understand 
where their values lie. 

COMMUNITY FOCUSED

As Australia’s largest pure play industrial REIT, we 
have a responsibility to engage and connect with the 
communities and families whose livelihood depends on 
the industry. To this end, we’ve partnered with Healthy 
Heads to raise mental health awareness across the wider 
warehousing, logistics and road transport industry. Poor 
wellbeing and mental health have a significant impact on 
not only those who experience it, but also costs the wider 
economy due to reduced productivity and associated 

medical costs. 

DIVERSE, INCLUSIVE AND HEALTHY 
WORKPLACES

As an externally managed REIT, CIP benefits and adopts 
the Group's wider approach to initiatives relating to 
diversity, inclusivity, and wellbeing. 

An annual employee (including part time and contractors) 
engagement survey is conducted by our external provider 
Culture Amp. This annual survey is an important tool used 
by management to identify areas of opportunity to create 
a resilient and thriving work culture. 

Centuria believes in providing wider support for our 
employees, understanding our people are our community 
and a thriving community means a thriving company. 

Our employees also benefit from:

• a generous parental leave program; and

• Centuria Rewards; a rewards program which provides 
financial assistance for employees.

96%

94%

41%

of surveyed tenants are 
satisfied with Centuria 
as an asset owner.1

of employees are proud 
to work at Centuria.2

women in the workplace.

Centuria is committed to 
a diverse and inclusive 
workplace.

50% Gender diversity on CIP 
Board.

1. Centuria undertakes annual tenant surveys. The figure 
reported is from the Group’s FY22 survey.

2. Centuria undertakes annual employee engagement surveys. 
The figure reported is from the Group’s FY22 survey.

Centuria Industrial REIT proudly 
supports:

21 JAY ST, TOWNSVILLE QLD 2 WOOLWORTHS WAY, WARNERVALE NSW
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Meet the Board of Directors

Jennifer Cook

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Jennifer has been an Independent Non-Executive Director 
of Centuria Property Funds No.2 Limited (CPF2L), the 
responsible entity of Centuria Industrial REIT (CIP), since 
July 2021.

Jennifer is Managing Director of property industry 
consultancy, Village Well NSW, working with major 
Australian businesses to develop place transformation 
strategies that deliver competitive advantage and growth. 
Her broad leadership experience extends across consumer 
and business-to-business markets, asset management, 
retail, major events and festivals, arts and culture, 
professional services and tourism.

Previous senior roles include AMP Capital Real Estate’s 
Head of Customer Experience for the $10bn Australia and 
New Zealand retail portfolio, Urban Development Institute 
of Australia’s (UDIA Qld) Director of Brand and Innovation, 
Associate Director of Brand Strategy for Fortune 500 
company AECOM, and General Manager of Retail for Virgin 
Mobile.

Jennifer is also on the advisory board of proptech start up 
Vennu. She has an MBA from the University of Southern 
Queensland (USQ) and is a Graduate of the Australian 
Institute of Company Directors.

Roger Dobson

CHAIRMAN AND INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 

Roger has been an Independent Non-Executive Director 
of Centuria Property Funds No.2 Limited, the responsible 
entity of Centuria Industrial REIT (CIP), since October 2017 
and was appointed Chairman of the Board in July 2020. He 
is also a member of CPF2L’s Audit, Risk and Compliance 
Committee. He has extensive experience in large, complex 
restructuring and insolvency matters throughout Australia.

For more than a decade, Roger has represented main 
banking syndicates, offshore funds holding a substantial 
debt position, companies experiencing financial distress, 
liquidators, administrators, and receivers. His experience 
covers a diverse range of industries, including energy and 
resources, mining services, construction, engineering 
services, media and communications, investment 
banking and financial services, retail, manufacturing, and 
infrastructure.

Roger heads Jones Day’s Business Restructuring & 
Reorganisation practice in Australia.

He holds a Master of Laws from Columbia University, NYC, 
and a Bachelor of Law from Adelaide University. He is a 
member of the Australian Restructuring Insolvency & 
Turnaround Association (ARITA) and INSOL International.

Natalie Collins

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 

Natalie has been an independent Non-Executive Director 
of Centuria Property Funds No.2 Limited (CPF2L) since July 
2020. She also sits on the Boards of Centuria Life Limited, 
Over Fifty Guardian Friendly Society Limited, Centuria 
Healthcare Asset Management Limited and is a member of 
Centuria Capital Group’s Culture and ESG Committee.

Currently, Natalie is Head of Commercial Partnerships 
at Woolworths Group, responsible for unlocking value 
between Woolworths and their largest commercial partners. 
Prior to this, Natalie was Head of Emerging Ventures and 
Co-Founder of Amatil X, the corporate venture capital arm 
at Coca-Cola Amatil, established to leverage the global 
startup ecosystem to uncover disruptive business models 
and new technologies to drive growth. 

Natalie started her career as an auditor with PwC and has 
since gained 20 years experience in the global consumer 
packaged goods and retail industries spanning finance, 
strategy, supply chain, marketing, and innovation.

She holds a Bachelor of Economics (Accounting) from 
Macquarie University, is an active mentor and advisor to 
early-stage startups and is a Graduate of the Australian 
Institute of Company Directors (GAICD).

Peter Done

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Peter has been an Independent Non-executive Director 
of Centuria Property Fund No. 2 Limited (CPF2L), the 
responsible entity of Centuria Industrial REIT (CIP), since 
June 2017 and served as Chairman of the Board until 
July 2020. He is also Chairman of CPF2L’s Audit, Risk and 
Compliance Committee. He has extensive knowledge in 
accounting, audit and financial management in the property 
development and financial services industries, corporate 
governance, regulatory issues and Board processes 
through his many senior roles.

Peter hails from a 38-year career at KPMG. From 1979, he 
held the position of Partner until his retirement in 2006. 
During his 27 years as Partner, Peter was the lead audit 
partner for many clients, including those involved in 
property development, primary production and television 
and film production and distribution.

Peter holds a Bachelor of Commerce (Accounting) from the 
University of New South Wales and is a Fellow of Chartered 
Accountants Australia and New Zealand.

Peter is also an Independent Non-executive Director of 
Centuria Property Funds Limited, Centuria Capital Group 
and Centuria Life Limited.
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Directors’ report
For the year ended 30 June 2022

The directors of Centuria Property Funds No. 2 Limited, 
the Responsible Entity of Centuria Industrial REIT ('CIP') 
present their report, together with the consolidated 
financial statements of the Trust and its subsidiaries 
('the Trust') for the year ended 30 June 2022 and the 
independent auditor's report thereon.

DIRECTORS OF THE RESPONSIBLE ENTITY

The directors of Centuria Property Funds No. 2 Limited during or since the end of the 
financial year are:

NAME APPOINTED RESIGNED DIRECTORSHIP OF OTHER LISTED COMPANIES

Roger Dobson 01 Oct 2017 - N/A

Peter Done 26 Jun 2017 - Centuria Capital Limited

Natalie Collins 29 Jul 2020 - N/A

Jennifer Cook 01 Jul 2021 - N/A

Nicholas Collishaw 01 Oct 2017 30 Aug 2021 N/A

The company secretary of Centuria Property Funds No. 2 Limited during or since the end of the 
financial year is:

NAME APPOINTED

Anna Kovarik 05 Jul 2018

Refer to Note D2 of the annual financial report for directors' unit holdings in the Trust.

No director holds a right or option over interests in the Trust. No options over any issued or 
unissued units in the Trust have been issued to any director.

There are no contracts to which any director is a party to under which a director is entitled 
to a benefit and/or confers a right to call for or be delivered interests in the Trust.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Trust is a registered managed investment scheme domiciled in Australia.

The principal activity of the Trust is investment in industrial property within Australia. There 
have been no significant changes in the nature of the Trust's activities since the date of the 
Trust's establishment.

The Trust did not have any employees during the financial year.

SIGNIFICANT CHANGE IN THE STATE OF AFFAIRS

In the opinion of the Responsible Entity there were no significant changes in the state of 
affairs of the Trust that occurred during the financial year.
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Directors’ report
For the year ended 30 June 2022

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS

Results
The results of the operations of the Trust are disclosed in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income of these financial statements. The Trust's profit from continuing operations for the year ended 
30 June 2022 was $367,480,000 (30 June 2021: $611,239,000).

As at 30 June 2022, the Trust's Net Tangible Assets ('NTA') was $4.24 per unit, representing a 41.0 cents per unit ('cpu') 
increase from prior year (30 June 2021: $3.83). 

Investment property valuations
The Trust has externally revalued 44 investment properties as at 30 June 2022. On a like for like basis, the investment 
properties valuation of the Trust increased $325.8 million from the prior year. Increased transactional activity in the 
industrial and logistics sector resulted in capitalisation rates firming 35 basis points in the first half of the year, before 
stabilising in the second half of the financial year. The CIP portfolio weighted average capitalisation rate was 4.19% as at 
the end of the financial year.

The total value of the Trust's portfolio as at 30 June 2022 was $4,100.9 million (30 June 2021: $2,945.1 million).

The weighted average capitalisation rate for the portfolio firmed 35 basis points year on year to 4.19% as at 30 June 2022 
(30 June 2021: 4.54%).

Leasing and occupancy
The Trust secured 185,206 square metres ('sqm') of leases across 49 transactions for the year ended 30 June 2022. 
This represented 14% of the portfolio's gross lettable area.

At 30 June 2022, the Trust's portfolio was 98.8% occupied with a Weighted Average Lease Expiry ('WALE') of 8.3 years. 
For the upcoming financial year ending 30 June 2023, lease expiries represent 5.5% of portfolio income.

Capital management
The Trust refinanced the secured multi-bank loan facility to an unsecured debt platform on 12 November 2021. A wholly 
owned subsidiary, CIP Funding Pty Ltd, was established to be the new borrower and the unsecured facility is guaranteed 
by the Trust and it's subsidiaries.

During the year, Moody's Investor Services assigned the Trust a Baa2 issuer rating with a stable outlook.

On 16 December 2021, the Trust issued a $350.0 million six-year Australian Dollar Medium Term Note ('A$MTN') at a fixed 
rate of 3.026%. This fixed rate note was swapped to a floating rate exposure and separately entered into a new three-year 
interest rate swap, reducing the issuance cost of debt to 2.4% for the first three years. Proceeds from the note were used 
to refinance the Trust's existing drawn debt.

As at 30 June 2022, the Trust had debt facility totalling $1,610.0 million (30 June 2021: $1,210.0 million) with a weighted 
average expiry of 4.4 years (30 June 2021: 2.8 years). Drawn borrowings totalled $1,377.2 million (30 June 2021: $936.5 
million), and the all-in interest cost (made up of interest expense and line fees) at 30 Jun 2022 was 2.0% (30 June 2021: 
2.87%) and 61.7% of the total drawn debt fixed through swaps and fixed borrowing (30 June 2021: 10.7%). The Trust's 
gearing at 30 June 2022 was 33.2% (30 June 2021: 27.8%).

Outlook
The Responsible Entity’s strategy and ongoing focus remains unchanged. The Responsible Entity continues to focus 
on portfolio leasing to ensure occupancy and income are maximised, active asset management, risk mitigation and 
repositioning strategies. The Responsible Entity is focused on acquiring quality assets in order to enhance existing 
stable and secure income streams.

The Trust's FFO guidance for the year ending 30 June 2023 is expected to be 17.0 cpu. The distribution guidance for 
the year ending 30 June 2023 is expected to be 16.0 cpu which will be paid in equal quarterly instalments.

Distributions
Distributions paid or payable in respect of the financial year were:

30 JUN 2022 30 JUN 2021

CENTS  
PER UNIT $’000

CENTS  
PER UNIT $’000

September quarter 4.325 27,307 4.250 21,638

December quarter 4.325 27,374 4.250 23,404

March quarter 4.325 27,420 4.250 23,452

June quarter 4.325 27,461 4.250 23,451

17.300 109,562 17.000 91,945

Key dates in connection with the 30 June 2022 distribution are:

EVENT DATE

Ex-distribution date 29 Jun 2022

Record date 30 Jun 2022

Distribution payment date 05 Aug 2022

FFO for the year ended 30 June 2022 was $111.7 million (30 June 2021: $91.4 million), representing a 22.2% increase from 
prior year.

The Trust paid distributions of 17.3 cpu during the 2022 financial year which was in line with guidance provided as part of 
the June 2021 year end result. The following table provides a reconciliation from the consolidated statement of profit or 
loss and other comprehensive income to the FFO for the year:

30 JUN 2022 
$’000

30 JUN 2021 
$’000

Net profit for the year 367,480 611,239

Adjustments

Net (gain) on fair value of investment properties (281,776) (523,329)

Straight-lining of rental income (12,168) (8,719)

Loss/(gain) on fair value of derivative financial instruments 11,938 (1,966)

Rent free and abatement 7,717 5,408

Amortisation of incentives and leasing fees 4,048 3,477

Transaction costs 3,954 5,330

Goodwill impairment expense 10,501 -

Funds from operations 111,694 91,440

The Trust issued 83.1 million units in September, December and March quarters to assist with the the acquisition of new 
properties. These units were entitled to a distribution for the full quarter, however as the properties acquired were not 
owned for the entire period, the income received from these properties was less than the distribution paid for these 
periods. Accordingly, this has resulted in total distributions for the year being higher than the funds from operations.

Distribution reinvestment plan
Distribution Reinvestment Plan ('DRP') remained activated in September quarter, December quarter and March quarter 
during the year. Unitholders could elect to have all or part of their distribution entitlement reinvested by the issue of new 
units rather than distributions being paid in cash.
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ENVIRONMENTAL REGULATION

The Trust’s operations are not subject to any significant environmental regulation under Commonwealth, State or 
Territory legislation.

OPTIONS GRANTED

No options were granted over unissued units in the Trust during or since the end of the financial year.

No unissued units in the Trust were under option as at the date of this report.

No units were issued in the Trust during or since the end of the financial year as a result of the exercise of an option over 
unissued units in the Trust.

EVENTS SUBSEQUENT TO BALANCE DATE

There are no other matters or circumstances which have arisen since the end of the financial year and the date of this 
report, in the opinion of the Responsible Entity, which significantly affect the operations of the Trust, the results of those 
operations, or the state of affairs of the Trust, in future financial years.

INDEMNIFYING OFFICERS OR AUDITORS

Indemnification
Under the Trust's constitution, the Responsible Entity, including its officers and employees, is indemnified out of the Trust’s 
assets for any loss, damage, expense or other liability incurred by it in properly performing or exercising any of its powers, 
duties or rights in relation to the Trust.

The Responsible Entity has not indemnified or agreed to indemnify any auditor or other officer of the Trust, or any related 
body corporate.

Insurance premiums
The Responsible Entity has paid insurance premiums in respect of directors’ and officers’ liability and legal expense 
insurance contracts, for current and former directors and officers, including senior executives of the Responsible Entity.

TRUST INFORMATION IN THE DIRECTORS’ REPORT

Responsible Entity interests
The following fees were paid or payable to the Responsible Entity and related parties during the financial year: 

30 JUN 2022 
$’000

30 JUN 2021 
$’000

Management fees 22,472 14,118

Leasing fees 2,425 767

Property management fees 1,977 1,652

Custodian fees 1,764 1,093

Facility management fees 1,228 964

Project management fees 873 815

Due diligence acquisition fees 625 375

31,364 19,784

The Responsible Entity and/or its related parties have held units in the Trust during the financial year are outlined in D2 to 
the financial statements.

Directors’ report
For the year ended 30 June 2022

Other Trust information
The number of units in the Trust issued during the financial year, and the balance of issued units at the end of the financial 
year are disclosed in Note C8 to the financial statements.

The recorded value of the Trust’s assets as at the end of the financial year is disclosed in the consolidated statement of 
financial position as “Total assets” and the basis of recognition and measurement is included in the notes to the financial 
statements.

AUDITOR'S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION

A copy of the auditor's independence declaration as required under section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 is set out 
on page 42.

ROUNDING OF AMOUNTS

The Trust is an entity of the kind referred to in ASIC Corporations (Rounding in Financial/Directors' Reports) Instrument 
2016/191, related to the 'rounding off' of amounts in the Directors' Report and financial statements. Amounts in the 
Directors' Report and financial statements have been rounded off, in accordance with the instrument, to the nearest 
thousand dollars, unless otherwise indicated.

This report is made in accordance with a resolution of Directors.

Sydney  
4 August 2022

Roger Dobson

CHAIRMAN

Peter Done

DIRECTOR 



Centuria Industrial REIT – Annual Report 2022 |     4342      |  Centuria Industrial REIT – Annual Report 2022

 

 

6 

  

KPMG, an Australian partnership and a member firm of the KPMG global organisation of independent member firms 
affiliated with KPMG International Limited, a private English company limited by guarantee. All rights reserved. The 
KPMG name and logo are trademarks used under license by the independent member firms of the KPMG global 
organisation. Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation. 

 

Lead Auditor’s Independence Declaration under 

Section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001
          

 

To the Directors of Centuria Property Funds No.2 Limited, the Responsible 

Entity of Centuria Industrial REIT  

I declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, in relation to the audit of Centuria Industrial REIT 

for the financial year ended 30 June 2022 there have been: 

i. no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements as set out in the 

Corporations Act 2001 in relation to the audit; and 

ii. no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit. 

 

   

 

 

KPMG Peter Zabaks 

 Partner 

 Sydney 

 4 August 2022 
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Consolidated statement of profit or loss and 
other comprehensive income
For the year ended 30 June 2022

NOTE
30 JUN 2022  

$’000
30 JUN 2021 

$’000

REVENUE

Rent and recoverable outgoings B2 203,525 160,348

Total revenue from continuing operations 203,525 160,348

OTHER INCOME

Interest income 26 14

Net gain on fair value of investment properties 281,776 523,329

Gain on fair value of derivative financial instruments - 1,966

Other income 1,809 -

Total other income 283,611 525,309

Total revenue from continuing operations and other income 487,136 685,657

EXPENSES

Rates, taxes and other property outgoings 44,096 31,532

Finance costs B3 26,909 25,860

Management fees D2 22,472 14,118

Goodwill impairment expense C4 10,501 -

Loss on fair value of derivative financial instruments 11,938 -

Other expenses 3,740 2,908

Profit from continuing operations for the year 367,480 611,239

Net profit for the year 367,480 611,239

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Other comprehensive income for the year - -

Total comprehensive income for the year B4 367,480 611,239

BASIC AND DILUTED EARNINGS PER UNIT

Basic earnings per unit (cents per unit)  B4 59.9 117.7

The above consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with 
the accompanying notes.

Consolidated statement of financial position
As at 30 June 2022

NOTE
30 JUN 2022 

$’000
30 JUN 2021 

$’000

ASSETS

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents C10 26,604 105,543

Trade and other receivables C1 14,830 6,835

Other assets 640 2,464

Derivative financial instruments C7 5,032 -

Investment properties held for sale C3 34,500 9,000

Total current assets 81,606 123,842

Non-current assets

Other non-current assets - 35,459

Investment properties C2 4,066,426 2,936,057

Intangibles C4 - 10,501

Total non-current assets 4,066,426 2,982,017

Total assets 4,148,032 3,105,859

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables C5 47,029 26,832

Distributions payable B1 27,461 23,451

Total current liabilities 74,490 50,283

Non-current liabilities

Borrowings C6 1,373,029 933,276

Derivative financial instruments C7 11,168 -

Total non-current liabilities 1,384,197 933,276

Total liabilities 1,458,687 983,559

Net assets 2,689,345 2,122,300

EQUITY

Issued capital C8 1,840,488 1,531,361

Retained earnings 848,857 590,939

Total equity 2,689,345 2,122,300

The above consolidated statement of financial position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity
For the year ended 30 June 2022

NOTE
ISSUED CAPITAL 

$’000

RETAINED 
EARNINGS 

$’000
TOTAL EQUITY 

$’000

Balance at 1 July 2020 1,067,398 71,645 1,139,043

Net profit for the year - 611,239 611,239

Total comprehensive income for the year - 611,239 611,239

Units issued C8 465,786 - 465,786

Dividend reinvestment plan ('DRP') C8 7,704 - 7,704

Equity raising costs C8 (9,527) - (9,527)

Distributions provided for or paid B1 - (91,945) (91,945)

Balance at 30 June 2021 1,531,361 590,939 2,122,300

Balance at 1 July 2021 1,531,361 590,939 2,122,300

Net profit for the year - 367,480 367,480

Total comprehensive income for the year - 367,480 367,480

Units issued C8 302,611 - 302,611

Dividend reinvestment plan ('DRP') C8 13,141 - 13,141

Equity raising costs C8 (6,625) - (6,625)

Distributions provided for or paid B1 - (109,562) (109,562)

Balance at 30 June 2022 1,840,488 848,857 2,689,345

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Consolidated statement of cash flows
For the year ended 30 June 2022

NOTE
30 JUN 2022 

$’000
30 JUN 2021 

$’000

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Receipts from customers 212,652 167,575

Payments to suppliers (78,782) (57,121)

Interest received 26 14

Interest paid (21,967) (26,801)

Net cash generated by operating activities C10 111,929 83,667

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Payments for investment properties (832,373) (889,008)

Proceeds from sale of investment properties 10,281 37,436

Net cash used in investing activities (822,092) (851,572)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Distribution paid (92,414) (79,503)

Proceeds from borrowings 1,091,200 827,093

Repayment of borrowings (650,500) (345,000)

Payments for borrowing costs (4,957) (2,398)

Payments for derivative financial instruments (8,091) -

Proceeds from issue of units 302,611 465,786

Equity issue costs (6,625) (9,608)

Net cash generated by financing activities 631,224 856,370

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (78,939) 88,465

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of financial year 105,543 17,078

Cash and cash equivalents at end of financial year C10 26,604 105,543

The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 30 June 2022

A1 GENERAL INFORMATION

Centuria Industrial REIT is a registered managed investment scheme under the Corporations Act 2001 and domiciled in 
Australia. The principal activity of the Trust is disclosed in the Directors' report.

Statement of compliance
The consolidated financial statements are general purpose financial statements which have been prepared in accordance 
with Australian Accounting Standards adopted by the Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB) and the Corporations 
Act 2001. The consolidated financial statements comply with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) adopted 
by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB).

For the purposes of preparing the financial statements, the Trust is a for-profit entity.

The financial report was authorised for issue in accordance with a resolution of the board of directors of Centuria Property 
Funds No. 2 Limited ('CPF2L'), the Responsible Entity, on 4 August 2022.

Basis of preparation
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the basis of historical cost, except for investment properties 
and derivative financial instruments at fair value through profit and loss, which have been measured at fair value at the end 
of the reporting period. Cost is based on the fair values of the consideration given in exchange for assets. All amounts are 
presented in Australian dollars, which is the Trust’s functional currency, unless otherwise noted.

(i) Going concern

The financial report has been prepared on a going concern basis, which assumes continuity of normal business activities 
and the realisation of assets and the settlement of liabilities in the ordinary course of business.

Rounding of amounts
The Trust is a scheme of a kind referred to in ASIC Legislative Instrument 2016/191, related to the ‘rounding off’ of amounts 
in the Directors’ Report and financial statements. Amounts in the Directors’ Report and financial statements have been 
rounded off, in accordance with the instrument to the nearest thousand dollars, unless otherwise indicated.

A About the report

A2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The accounting policies and methods of computation in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements are 
consistent with those adopted in the previous financial year ended 30 June 2021 unless specifically outlined below or in 
the relevant notes to the consolidated financial statements.

When the presentation or classification of items in the consolidated financial statements has been amended, comparative 
amounts are also reclassified, unless it is impractical.

Accounting policies are selected and applied in a manner that ensures that the resulting financial information satisfies 
the concepts of relevance and reliability, thereby ensuring that the substance of the underlying transactions or other 
events are reported.

These financial statements contain all significant accounting policies that summarise the recognition and measurement 
basis used and which are relevant to provide an understanding of the financial statements. Accounting policies that are 
specific to a note to the financial statements are described in the note to which they relate.

Use of estimates and judgements
In the application of the Trust's accounting policies, the Responsible Entity is required to make judgements, estimates 
and assumptions about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The 
judgements, estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and various other factors that are 
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making judgements. Actual 
results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are 
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period; or in the period of the 
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods. The key estimates and judgements in 
the financial report relate to the valuation of investment properties (per Note C2), goodwill (per Note C4) and derivative 
financial instruments (per Note E2).

Judgements made by the Responsible Entity that have significant effects on the financial statements and estimates 
with significant risk of material adjustments in the next year are disclosed, where applicable, in the relevant notes to the 
financial statements.

Segment reporting
The Trust operates in one segment, being investments in Australian industrial property. The Trust has determined its one 
operating segment based on the internal information that is provided to the chief operating decision maker and which is used 

in making strategic decisions. The Responsible Entity has been identified as the Trust’s chief operating decision maker.
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Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 30 June 2022

B1 DISTRIBUTION

30 JUN 2022 30 JUN 2021

CENTS PER 
UNIT $’000

CENTS PER 
UNIT $’000

September quarter 4.325 27,307 4.250 21,638

December quarter 4.325 27,374 4.250 23,404

March quarter 4.325 27,420 4.250 23,452

June quarter 4.325 27,461 4.250 23,451

17.300 109,562 17.000 91,945

Key dates in connection with the 30 June 2022 distribution are:

EVENT DATE

Ex-distribution date 29 Jun 2022

Record date 30 Jun 2022

Distribution payment date 5 Aug 2022

Distribution and taxation
Under current Australian income tax legislation, the Trust is not liable for income tax for the financial year as the Trust has 
fully distributed its distributable income as determined under the Trust’s constitution, whilst its unitholders are presently 
entitled to the income.

Distributions paid and payable are recognised as distributions within equity. A liability is recognised where distributions 
have been declared but have not been paid. Distributions paid are included in cash flows from financing activities in the 
consolidated statement of cash flows.

B2 REVENUE

30 JUN 2022 
$’000

30 JUN 2021 
$’000

Rental income 160,150 129,470

Recoverable outgoings 31,207 22,159

Straight-lining of lease revenue 12,168 8,719

203,525 160,348

B Trust performance

Recognition and measurement
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable to the extent it is probable that the 
economic benefits will flow to the Trust and the revenue can be reliably measured.

(i) Rental income

Rental income from investment property is recognised in profit or loss on a straight line basis over the term of the lease. 
Rental income not received at reporting date is reflected in the consolidated statement of financial position as a receivable. 
If rents are paid in advance these amounts are recorded as payables in the consolidated statement of financial position.

Lease incentives granted are recognised as an integral part of the net consideration agreed for the use of the leased 
premises, irrespective of the incentive's nature or form or the timing of payments. The aggregate cost of lease incentives are 
recognised as a reduction of rental income on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Contingent rents based on the future amount of a factor that changes other than with the passage of time are only 
recognised when charged.

(ii) Recoverable outgoings

The Trust recovers the costs associated with general building and tenancy operation from lessees in accordance with 
specific clauses within lease agreements. These are invoiced monthly based on an annual estimate. The consideration is 
due 30 days from the invoice date. Should any adjustment be required based on actual costs incurred, this is recognised in 
the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income within the same reporting period and billed annually.

(iii) Interest revenue

Interest revenue is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding using the effective interest rate method.

(iv) Sale of properties

Any gain or loss arising on the sale of an investment property is recognised when the control of the asset is passed on to 
the buyer, which normally coincides with the settlement of the contract for sale.

B3 EXPENSES

Recognition and measurement
Finance costs are recognised in the profit or loss statement as they accrue. Finance costs are recognised using the 
effective interest rate applicable to the financial liability.

(i) Finance costs

Finance costs include interest expense and amortised borrowing costs.

30 JUN 2022 
$’000

30 JUN 2021 
$’000

Interest expense 22,879 19,608

Loan repayment break costs - 5,080

Amortisation of borrowing costs 4,030 1,172

26,909 25,860
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(ii) Other expenses

All other expenses, including rates, taxes and other property outgoings and management fees, are recognised in profit or 
loss on an accruals basis. Other operating expenses include legal, accounting and audit fees.

(iii) Goods and services tax

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised exclusive of goods and services tax ('GST') which is recoverable from the 
Australian Taxation Office ('ATO') as an input tax credit ('ITC').

Receivables and payables are stated with the amount of GST included. The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable 
to, the ATO is included in receivables or payables in the consolidated statement of financial position.

Cash flows are included in the consolidated statement of cash flows with the amount of GST included. The GST component 
of cash flows arising from investing and financing activities which is recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO is classified as 
operating cash flows.

B4 EARNINGS PER UNIT

30 JUN 2022 30 JUN 2021

Basic earnings per unit (cents per unit) 59.9 117.7

Earnings used in calculating basic earnings per unit ($'000) 367,480 611,239

Weighted average number of units ('000) 613,264 519,427

Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 30 June 2022

B Trust performance

27-30 SHARP COURT, CAVAN SA
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C1 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

30 JUN 2022  
$’000

30 JUN 2021 
$’000

CURRENT

Trade debtors 4,310 3,876

Expected credit loss provision (205) (221)

Other current receivables 10,725 3,180

14,830 6,835

Refer to Note E2 for details on fair value measurement and the Trust's exposure to risks associated with financial assets 
(other receivables are not considered to be financial assets).

Recognition and measurement
Loans and receivables are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently amortised cost using the effective interest 
rate method less any allowance under the expected credit loss ('ECL') model.

Refer to the policy application below for further details.

Recoverability of loans and receivables
At each reporting period, the Trust assesses whether financial assets carried at amortised cost are ‘credit-impaired’. A 
financial asset is ‘credit-impaired’ when one or more events that has a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash 
flows of the financial asset have occurred. The Trust recognises loss allowances at an amount equal to lifetime ECL on 
trade and other receivables. Loss allowances for financial assets measured at amortised cost are deducted from the gross 
carrying amount of the assets.

Lifetime ECLs are the ECLs that result from all possible default events over the expected life of the trade receivables and 
are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit losses are measured as the difference between cash flows due 
to the Trust in accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the Trust expects to receive.

During the year, the Trust has provided $0.2 million ECL provision for the Trade receivables balance and $0.4m of rental waiver.

Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 30 June 2022

C Trust's assets and liabilities

C2 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

NOTE
30 JUN 2022  

$’000
30 JUN 2021 

$’000

Opening balance 2,936,057 1,591,100

Purchase price of investment properties 772,410 785,455

Stamp duty and other transaction costs 48,096 47,424

Capital improvements and associated costs 13,918 4,928

Capital developments and associated costs 32,136 11,007

866,560 848,814

Net gain on fair value of investment properties 280,756 525,629

Change in deferred rent and lease incentives 15,051 7,165

Disposed deferred rent and lease incentives (9) 2,376

Change in capitalised leasing fees 2,511 573

Disposal at fair value - (39,600)

Closing gross balance 4,100,926 2,936,057

Transfer to investment properties held for sale (34,500) -

Closing balance^ 4,066,426 2,936,057

^ The carrying amount of investment properties includes components related to deferred rent, capitalised lease incentives and leasing fees amounting to 
$57.7 million (2021: $40.2 million).

Leases as lessor
The Trust leases out its investment properties under operating leases. The future minimum lease payments receivable 
under non-cancellable leases are as follows:

30 JUN 2022  
$’000

30 JUN 2021 
$’000

Less than one year 175,013 135,750

Between one and five years 538,254 439,116

More than five years 1,088,332 1,056,285

1,801,599 1,631,151
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FAIR VALUE 
$’000

CAPITALISATION 
RATE %

DISCOUNT 
RATE %

PROPERTY
30 JUN 

2022
30 JUN  

2021
30 JUN 

2022
30 JUN 

2021
30 JUN 

2022
30 JUN 

2021

30 JUN  
2022 
VALUER

LAST  
INDEPENDENT 
VALUATION

VIC

Telstra Data Centre, Clayton 560,000 505,000 3.13 3.38 5.25 5.25 JLL Jun 2022

95-105 South Gippsland Hwy, 
Dandenong Sth

65,125 15,607 - - - - Directors -

207-219 Browns Rd, Noble Park 65,000 56,000 4.38 5.00 5.50 6.00 Directors Dec 2021

45 Fulton Dr, Derrimut 62,500 56,000 4.13 4.50 5.25 6.00 Colliers Jun 2022

324-332 Frankston-Dandenong Rd, 
Dandenong South

58,500 50,000 4.13 4.65 5.50 5.75 Savills Jun 2022

1 International Dr, Westmeadows 56,500 49,000 5.25 5.75 6.00 6.00 JLL Jun 2022

102-128 Bridge Rd, Keysborough 53,500 47,500 4.50 5.25 5.50 6.00 JLL Jun 2022

24-32 Stanley Dr, Somerton 43,000 39,400 4.50 4.75 5.75 6.00 Directors Dec 2021

110 Northcorp Blvd, Broadmeadows^ 42,000 - 3.88 - 5.50 - Directors Dec 2021

69 Studley Ct, Derrimut 40,000 35,000 4.25 4.65 5.50 5.50 Colliers Jun 2022

2 Keon Pde, Keon Park 38,700 35,500 4.25 4.50 5.50 6.00 Savills Jun 2022

90 Bolinda Rd, Campbellfield^ 37,650 - 4.50 - 5.25 - Directors Dec 2021

14-17 Dansu Ct, Hallam 37,500 33,000 4.00 4.25 5.25 5.75 Colliers Jun 2022

500 Princes Hwy, Noble Park 36,500 30,500 4.75 5.00 5.50 5.75 C&W Jun 2022

75-79 and 105 Corio Quay Rd, North 
Geelong

36,000 34,300 5.00 5.00 6.25 6.50 Directors Dec 2021

590 Heatherton Rd, Port Melbourne^ 27,550 - 4.00 - 5.50 - Savills Jun 2022

513 Mt Derrimut Rd, Derrimut 27,000 24,000 4.13 4.50 5.25 5.75 Colliers Jun 2022

12-13 Dansu Ct, Hallam 26,500 23,250 4.00 4.50 5.25 6.00 Colliers Jun 2022

140 Fulton Dr, Derrimut 25,500 23,350 4.13 4.50 5.25 6.00 Colliers Jun 2022

49 Temple Dr, Thomastown 23,000 19,750 4.50 5.00 5.75 6.00 Directors Dec 2021

51-65 Wharf Rd, Port Melbourne^ 22,000 - 4.00 - 5.50 - Directors Sep 2021

30 Fulton Dr, Derrimut^ 20,550 - 4.50 - 5.75 - Directors Aug 2021

179 Studley Crt, Derrimut 20,000 18,300 4.25 4.50 5.50 5.75 Colliers Jun 2022

159 & 169 Studley Court, Derrimut^ 18,500 - 4.25 - 5.25 - Colliers Jun 2022

870 Lorimer St, Port Melbourne^ 18,000 - 4.00 - 5.50 - Directors Oct 2021

51-73 Lambeck Dr, Tullamarine 17,900 16,600 4.75 5.00 5.75 6.00 Directors Dec 2021

Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 30 June 2022

C Trust's assets and liabilities

FAIR VALUE 
$’000

CAPITALISATION 
RATE %

DISCOUNT 
RATE %

PROPERTY
30 JUN 

2022
30 JUN  

2021
30 JUN 

2022
30 JUN 

2021
30 JUN 

2022
30 JUN 

2021

30 JUN  
2022 
VALUER

LAST  
INDEPENDENT 
VALUATION

40 Scanlon Dr, Epping 17,500 15,500 4.75 5.25 5.25 6.25 Directors Dec 2021

95 Fulton Dr, Derrimut^ 12,000 - 4.25 - 5.50 - Savills Jun 2022

346 Boundary Rd, Derrimut^ 11,850 - 5.25 - 5.75 - Directors Jul 2021

43-49 Wharf Rd, Port Melbourne^ 11,450 - 4.25 - 5.75 - Directors Dec 2021

85 Fulton Dr, Derrimut^ 7,350 - 4.75 - 5.50 - Directors May 2021

9 Fellowes Ct, Tullamarine 6,850 6,150 4.75 5.00 5.75 6.00 Directors Dec 2021

31-35 Hallam South Rd, Hallam^ 6,200 - 5.75 - 6.50 - Directors Jul 2021

NSW

56-88 Lisbon St, Fairfield^ 200,200 - 3.88 - 5.50 - Savills Jun 2022

2 Woolworths Way, Warnervale 120,000 112,000 4.75 5.00 5.50 5.75 Directors Dec 2021

67-69 Mandoon Rd, Girraween 86,000 90,250 4.50 4.50 5.50 5.75 Directors Jun 2021

12 Williamson Rd, Ingleburn 75,000 48,000 3.50 4.75 5.25 6.00 Directors Dec 2021

92-98 Cosgrove Rd, Enfield 73,300 63,400 3.88 4.50 5.25 5.75 Directors Dec 2021

29 Glendenning Rd, Glendenning 71,650 64,000 3.75 4.13 5.25 5.75 Directors Dec 2021

82 Rodeo Dr, Gregory Hills^ 70,000 - 3.88 - 5.38 - Savills Jun 2022

10 Williamson Rd, Ingleburn 67,000 60,600 4.25 4.75 5.50 6.00 Knight Frank Jun 2022

37-51 Scrivener St, Warwick Farm 66,200 65,000 4.00 4.00 5.50 5.50 Directors Dec 2021

457 Waterloo Rd, Chullora 47,800 43,500 4.00 4.25 5.50 5.75 Colliers Jun 2022

160 Newton Rd, Wetherill Park^ 40,400 - 3.88 - 5.25 - Directors Dec 2021

74-94 Newton Rd, Wetherill Park 39,000 39,000 4.75 4.75 5.75 6.00 Directors Dec 2021

164 Newton Rd, Wetherill Park^ 38,750 - 3.88 - 5.25 - Directors Dec 2021

8 Lexington Dr, Bella Vista 38,000 28,500 3.75 4.50 5.50 6.00 CBRE Jun 2022

30 Clay Pl, Eastern Creek - 24,700 - 4.00 - 5.75 Directors Dec 2021

6 Macdonald Rd, Ingleburn 33,500 30,500 4.00 4.38 5.50 5.75 Directors Dec 2021

52-74 Quarry Rd, Erskine Park 31,000 26,500 3.75 4.00 5.25 5.75 Colliers Jun 2022

8 Penelope Cres, Arndell Park 30,500 27,500 4.00 4.38 5.50 5.88 Directors Dec 2021

29 Penelope Cres, Arndell Park^ 30,250 - 4.00 - 5.50 - Directors Dec 2021

144 Hartley Rd, Smeaton Grange 25,400 21,800 4.00 4.25 5.50 5.75 JLL Jun 2022

75 Owen St, Glendenning 17,100 15,300 3.75 4.00 5.00 5.50 Directors Dec 2021

8 Hexham Pl, Wetherill Park^ 12,200 - 3.75 - 5.00 - Directors Dec 2021
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FAIR VALUE 
$’000

CAPITALISATION 
RATE %

DISCOUNT 
RATE %

PROPERTY
30 JUN 

2022
30 JUN  

2021
30 JUN 

2022
30 JUN 

2021
30 JUN 

2022
30 JUN 

2021

30 JUN  
2022 
VALUER

LAST  
INDEPENDENT 
VALUATION

QLD

46 Robinson Rd E, Virginia 300,000 289,000 3.75 3.88 5.50 5.75 Savills Jun 2022

60-80 Southlink St, Parkinson 59,700 56,200 4.38 4.63 5.75 6.00 CBRE Jun 2022

1 Ashburn Rd, Bundamba 59,200 55,400 4.50 4.75 5.50 5.25 Savills Jun 2022

22 Hawkins Cres, Bundamba 56,200 56,200 4.63 4.88 5.75 6.00 Directors Dec 2021

1 Lahrs Rd, Ormeau 55,000 51,500 4.38 4.63 5.50 6.00 Savills Jun 2022

33-37 Mica St, Carole Park 39,500 39,200 5.00 5.00 6.00 6.25 CBRE Jun 2022

149 Kerry Rd, Archerfield 38,000 35,800 4.75 5.00 5.75 5.75 Directors Dec 2021

21 Jay St, Mount St John, Townsville* 36,700 32,700 5.00 5.50 6.25 6.25 Directors Dec 2021

69 Rivergate Pl, Murarrie 34,300 36,600 5.00 5.00 5.75 5.75 Directors Dec 2021

46 Gosport St, Hemmant 32,200 27,500 5.00 5.50 5.50 6.25 M3 Jun 2022

680 Boundary St, Richlands 29,600 24,000 5.00 5.50 5.75 6.25 CBRE Jun 2022

Lot 5 243 Bradman St, Acacia Ridge^ 26,600 - 4.25 - 5.75 - CBRE Jun 2022

42 Hoepner Rd, Bundamba 24,300 18,100 4.75 - 5.50 6.00 M3 Jun 2022

616 Boundary Rd, Richlands 24,000 21,000 5.50 5.75 6.00 6.00 Directors Dec 2021

55 Musgrave Rd, Coopers Plains^ 22,000 - 5.00 - 5.75 - Directors Dec 2021

51 Depot St, Banyo^ 21,800 - 4.25 - 5.25 - M3 Jun 2022

31 Gravel Pit Rd, Darra^ 19,100 - 4.75 - 5.75 - Savills Jun 2022

35 Cambridge St, Coorparoo 15,500 14,500 5.00 5.50 6.00 6.25 Directors Dec 2021

24 West Link Pl, Richlands 10,800 9,500 5.00 5.50 5.75 6.25 Directors Dec 2021

43-45 Mica St, Carole Park 2,100 1,950 5.00 5.25 - - CBRE Jun 2022

WA

310 Spearwood Ave, Bibra Lake 75,000 61,750 5.75 6.25 6.50 6.75 JLL Jun 2022

Lot 14 Sudlow Rd, Bibra Lake 45,000 41,500 5.75 6.25 6.50 6.75 JLL Jun 2022

48-54 Kewdale Rd, Welshpool^ 37,500 - 5.50 - 6.85 - CBRE Jun 2022

23 Selkis Rd, Bibra Lake 30,300 21,750 5.00 6.25 5.75 7.25 JLL Jun 2022

16-18 Baile Rd, Canning Vale 22,300 19,250 5.25 6.00 5.75 6.50 Directors Dec 2021

103 Stirling Cres, Hazelmere 20,600 17,500 5.50 6.00 6.75 7.25 CBRE Jun 2022

Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 30 June 2022

C Trust's assets and liabilities

FAIR VALUE 
$’000

CAPITALISATION 
RATE %

DISCOUNT 
RATE %

PROPERTY
30 JUN 

2022
30 JUN  

2021
30 JUN 

2022
30 JUN 

2021
30 JUN 

2022
30 JUN 

2021

30 JUN  
2022 
VALUER

LAST  
INDEPENDENT 
VALUATION

92 Robinson Rd, Belmont 13,750 12,500 5.75 6.00 6.50 7.00 Savills Jun 2022

155 Lakes Rd, Hazelmere 11,500 10,000 5.25 6.00 6.50 7.00 CBRE Jun 2022

204-208 Bannister Rd, Canning Vale^ 10,050 - - - - - Directors May 2022

SA

23-41 Galway Ave, Marleston 40,500 36,000 4.75 5.00 6.25 6.25 JLL Jun 2022

32-54 Kaurna Ave, Edinburgh Park 25,500 19,000 4.75 6.25 6.25 7.00 Directors Dec 2021

27-30 Sharp Court, Caven^ 23,254 - 4.25 - 5.25 - KnightFrank Jun 2022

9-13 Caribou Dr, Direk 12,700 11,400 5.25 5.75 6.00 6.50 Directors Dec 2021

15-19, Caribou Dr, Direk (Lot 16)^ 2,297 - - - - - Directors Dec 2021

ACT

54 Sawmill Cct, Hume* 24,150 22,000 4.75 5.00 5.75 6.00 Directors Dec 2021

4,066,426 2,936,057

* The Trust holds a leasehold interest in 21 Jay St, Mount St John, Townsville QLD and 54 Sawmill Cct, Hume ACT.
^ Investment properties acquired by the Trust during the year.
~ The acquisition of Site 1 was completed in July 2021. The fair value of prior period balance includes Site 2 only. This property is under development and 

the fair value based on development progress is $65.1 million.
# The Trust sold 99 Quill Way, Henderson WA on 26 November 2021 for $10.5 million.
' 30 Clay Place, Eastern Creek NSW was classified as investment property held for sale. Refer to Note C3 for more information.

The Trust's weighted average capitalisation rate for the year is 4.19% (2021: 4.54%).

Recognition and measurement
Investment properties are properties held either to earn rental income or for capital appreciation or for both. Investment 
properties are initially recorded at cost which includes stamp duty and other transaction costs. Subsequently, the 
investment properties are measured at fair value with any change in value recognised in profit or loss. The carrying amount 
of investment properties includes components relating to deferred rent, lease incentives and leasing fees.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the property 
(calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in profit 
or loss in the period in which the property is derecognised.

Valuation techniques and significant unobservable inputs
The fair values of the investment properties were determined by the directors of the Responsible Entity or by an external, 
independent valuation company having an appropriate recognised professional qualification and recent experience in the 
location and category of the properties being valued. Fair value is based on market values, being the estimated amount for 
which a property could be exchanged on the date of valuation between a willing buyer and willing seller in an arm’s length 
transaction after proper marketing wherein the parties had each acted knowledgeably, prudently and without compulsion.
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The valuations were prepared by considering the following valuation methodologies:

• Capitalisation Approach: the annual net rental income is capitalised at an appropriate market yield to arrive at the 
property's market value. Appropriate capital adjustments are then made where necessary to reflect the specific cash 
flow profile and the general characteristics of the property.

• Discounted Cash Flow Approach: this approach incorporates the estimation of future annual cash flows over a 10 year 
period by reference to expected rental growth rates, ongoing capital expenditure, terminal sale value and acquisition and 
disposal costs. The present value of future cash flows is then determined by the application of an appropriate discount 
rate to derive a net present value for the property.

• Direct Comparison Approach: this approach identifies comparable sales on a dollar per square metre of lettable area basis 
and compares the equivalent rates to the property being valued to determine the property's market value.

The valuations reflect, when appropriate, the type of tenants actually in occupation or responsible for meeting lease 
commitments or likely to be in occupation after letting of vacant accommodation and the market’s general perception 
of their credit-worthiness; the allocation of maintenance and insurance responsibilities between the lessor and lessee; 
and the remaining economic life of the property. It has been assumed that whenever rent reviews or lease renewals are 
pending with anticipated reversionary increases, all notices and, where appropriate, counter notices have been served 
validly and within the appropriate time.

Fair value measurement
The fair value measurement of investment property has been categorised as a Level 3 fair value as it is derived from 
valuation techniques that include inputs that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs). 

SIGNIFICANT 
UNOBSERVABLE INPUTS

FAIR VALUE 
MEASUREMENT 
SENSITIVITY TO 
SIGNIFICANT INCREASE 
IN INPUT

FAIR VALUE 
MEASUREMENT  
SENSITIVITY TO 
SIGNIFICANT DECREASE 
IN INPUT

RANGE OF INPUTS  
30 JUNE 2022

RANGE OF INPUTS  
30 JUNE 2021

Market rent Increase Decrease $25 - $1,416 $25 - $641

Capitalisation rate Decrease Increase 3.13% - 5.75% 3.38% - 7.75%

Discount rate Decrease Increase 5.00% - 6.85% 5.25% - 8.00%

The above unobservable inputs are considered significant Level 3 inputs. Refer to Note E2 for further information. 

A further sensitivity analysis was undertaken by the Trust to assess the fair value of investment properties values. The table 
below illustrates the impact on valuation of movements in capitalisation rates.

CAPITALISATION RATE IMPACT

FAIR VALUE AT  
30 JUNE 2022  

$’000
+0.25% 

$’000
-0.25% 

$’000

4,066,426 (228,900) 258,100

Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 30 June 2022

C Trust's assets and liabilities

C3 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE

Assets are classified as held for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered principally through a sale transaction rather 
than through continued use. This condition is regarded as met only when the sale is highly probable and the asset is 
available for immediate sale in its present condition.

30 JUN 2022 
$’000

30 JUN 2021 
$’000

99 Quill Way, Henderson WA - 9,000

30 Clay Pl, Eastern Creek NSW 34,500 -

34,500 9,000

The Trust sold 99 Quill Way, Henderson WA for a gross sale price of $10.5 million plus GST on 26 November 2021.

On 1 June 2022, the Trust entered into a contract to sell 30 Clay Pl, Eastern Creek NSW for $34.5 million. Settlement is 
expected to incur within 6 months from the date of exchange, subject to Foreign Investment Review Board (FIRB) approval.

Recognition and measurement
Investment properties are classified as held for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered principally through a sale 
transaction rather than through continuing use and a sale is considered highly probable. These investment properties are 
carried at fair value. The valuation techniques to determine the fair value of investment properties held for sale are the 
same as the valuation techniques of investment properties described in Note C2.

Where sale completion is delayed by events outside the control of the Trust, and the sale is not completed within one year 
from the date of classification, the Trust may still classify the asset as held for sale. In this circumstance, there must be 
sufficient evidence the Trust is committed to sell the asset.

C4 INTANGIBLES

Goodwill

30 JUN 2022 
$’000

30 JUN 2021 
$’000

Goodwill - at cost - 10,501

- 10,501

Indefinite life of controlling interest 
Goodwill recognised by the Trust in a business combination is initially measured at fair value and reflect the controlling 
interest in Australian Industrial REIT (‘ANI’).

Goodwill

Goodwill recognised in a business combination is measured at cost and subsequently measured at cost less any 
impairment losses. The cost represents the excess of the cost of a business combination over the fair value of the 
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities acquired.
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Impairment

Goodwill is tested annually for impairment. It is impaired if the recoverable amount, calculated as fair value less costs to 
sell, is less than its carrying amount. 

As at 30 June 2022, the Trust has performed an impairment assessment around the carrying value of its intangibles and 
given the substantial discount in the Trust's traded market value compared with its Net Tangible Assets (NTA), its goodwill 
balance of $10.5 million has been assessed as impaired and written off through the profit and loss statement.

C5 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

30 JUN 2022 
$’000

30 JUN 2021 
$’000

CURRENT

Trade creditors and expenses payable 14,684 7,804

Other current creditors and accruals 32,345 19,028

47,029 26,832

Refer to Note D2 for amounts payable to related parties. 

Recognition and measurement
Trade payables and other accounts payable are recognised when the Trust becomes obliged to make future payments 
resulting from the purchase of goods and services and are recorded initially at fair value, net of any attributable transaction 
costs. Subsequent to initial recognition they are measured at amortised cost.

Distributions paid and payable are recognised as distributions within equity. A liability is recognised where distributions 
have been declared but have not been paid. Distributions paid are included in cash flows from financing activities in the 
consolidated statement of cash flows.

A provision is recognised if, as a result of a past event, the Trust has a present legal or constructive obligation that can 
be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation. The 
amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present obligation at the 
end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When a provision is 
measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those 
cash flows (where the effect of the time value of money is material).

Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 30 June 2022

C Trust's assets and liabilities

C6 BORROWINGS

30 JUN 2022 
$’000

30 JUN 2021 
$’000

NON-CURRENT SECURED

Secured loan - fixed - 100,000

Secured loan - variable - 836,500

Borrowing costs - (3,224)

- 933,276

UNSECURED

Unsecured loan - variable 927,200 -

Unsecured medium term note (A$MTN) - fixed 350,000 -

Unsecured loan - fixed 100,000 -

Borrowing costs (4,171) -

1,373,029 -

The Trust refinanced the secured multi-bank loan facility to an unsecured debt platform on 12 November 2021. A wholly 
owned subsidiary, CIP Funding Pty Ltd, was established to be the new borrower and the unsecured loan facility is 
guaranteed by the Trust and it's subsidiaries.

During the year, Moody's Investor Services assigned the Trust a Baa2 issuer rating with a stable outlook.

On 16 December 2021, the Trust issued a $350.0 million six-year Australian Dollar Medium Term Note ('A$MTN') at a fixed 
rate of 3.026%. This fixed rate note was swapped to a floating rate exposure and separately entered into a new three-year 
interest rate swap, reducing the issuance cost of debt to 2.4% for the first three years. Proceeds from the note were used 
to refinance the Trust's existing drawn debt.

As at 30 June 2022, the Trust had the following debt facilities: 

30 JUN 2022 
$’000

30 JUN 2021 
$’000

SECURED LOAN FACILITIES

Facilities limit - 1,210,000

Facilities unused - (273,500)

Facilities used - 936,500

UNSECURED LOAN FACILITY

Facilities limit 1,610,000 -

Facilities unused (232,800) -

Facilities used 1,377,200 -
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At the end of the year, the Trust had 61.7% of its drawn debt hdeged (2021: NIL).

As at 30 June 2022, the Trust had $450.0 million (2021: $100.0 million) of fixed rate borrowings of which $350 million has 
been swapped into a floating rate exposure. At the end of the year, the Trust's drawn debt that is on a fixed interest basis is 
$850.0 million (2021: $100.0 million).

The Trust's loan has covenants in relation to Interest Coverage Ratio ('ICR'), Gearing Ratio, Priority Debt Ratio, 
Unencumbered Asset Ratio, Development Ratio and Guarantor Coverage which the Trust has complied with during the year.

Recognition and measurement
Borrowings are recorded initially at fair value, net of any attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition 
they are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method with any difference between the initial 
and recognised amount and redemption value being recognised in profit or loss over the period of borrowing and are 
derecognised when the contractual obligations are discharged, cancelled or expire.

Refer to Note E2 for details on the Trust's exposure to risks associated with financial liabilities.

C7 DERIVATIVES

Interest rate swap contracts
Under interest rate swap contracts, the Trust agrees to exchange the difference between fixed and floating rate interest 
amounts calculated on agreed notional principal amounts. Such contracts enable the Trust to mitigate the risk of changing 
interest rates on the cash flow exposures on the debt held. The following table details the specific instruments held at 
reporting date, showing the notional principal amounts and contracted fixed interest rate of each contract:

TYPE OF CONTRACT
MATURITY 
DATE

CONTRACTED  
INTEREST 

RATE

NOTIONAL 
AMOUNT OF  

CONTRACT 
$’000

FAIR 
VALUE OF 

CONTRACTS 
$’000

CURRENT  
30 June 2022

Interest rate swap 30 Jun 23 0.33% 100,000 2,752

Interest rate cap 15 Jun 23 2.00% 200,000 2,280

300,000 5,032

TYPE OF CONTRACT
MATURITY 
DATE

CONTRACTED  
INTEREST 

RATE

NOTIONAL 
AMOUNT OF  

CONTRACT 
$’000

FAIR 
VALUE OF 

CONTRACTS 
$’000

NON-CURRENT  
30 June 2022

Interest rate swap 28 Jun 24 0.54% 50,000 2,743

Interest rate swap 30 Jun 24 0.54% 50,000 2,739

Interest rate swap* 16 Dec 24 1.00% 350,000 20,168

Interest rate swap* 16 Dec 27 BBSY (350,000) (36,818)

100,000 (11,168)

* Hedged against the $350 million Australian Dollar Medium Term Note. 

The Trust terminated all swaps on 30 June 2021. All existing swaps are established on or after 1 July 2021.

Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 30 June 2022

C Trust's assets and liabilities

Recognition and measurement
Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value and attributable transaction costs are recognised in profit or loss when 
incurred. Subsequent to initial recognition, derivatives are measured at fair value, and the resulting gain or loss is 
recognised in profit or loss.

The fair value of interest rate swaps is the estimated amount that the entity would receive or pay to transfer the swap at 
reporting date, taking into account current interest rates and the current creditworthiness of the swap counterparties.

The Trust has not applied hedge accounting to its derivative financial instruments.

Refer to Note E2 for details on the Trust's exposure to risks associated with financial liabilities.

C8 ISSUED CAPITAL

30 JUN 2022 30 JUN 2021

UNITS ‘000 $’000 UNITS ‘000 $’000

Opening balance 551,808 1,531,361 400,275 1,067,398

Units issued 79,642 302,611 149,036 465,786

Distribution reinvestment plan ('DRP') 3,481 13,141 2,497 7,704

Equity raising costs - (6,625) - (9,527)

Closing balance 634,931 1,840,488 551,808 1,531,361

All units in Trust are of the same class and carry equal rights to capital and income distributions.

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of a Trust after deducting all of its 
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Trust are recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

C9 CONTINGENT ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND COMMITMENTS

The Trust has committed to construct a six-unit industrial estate on 95-105 South Gippsland Hwy, Dandenong South VIC 
with an estimated total development cost of $62.5 million plus GST. As at 30 June the Trust has spent $31.6 million (plus 
GST) on this development project.

90 Bolinda Road, Campbellfield VIC will be redeveloped into a sustainable five-unit industrial estate with an estimated total 
development cost of $66.5 million plus GST.

Industrial estate development at 204-208 Bannister Road, Canning Vale WA with an estimated total development cost of 
$18.1 million plus GST.
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C10   CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

30 JUN 2022 
$’000

30 JUN 2021 
$’000

Cash and cash equivalents 26,604 105,543

26,604 105,543

Reconciliation of profit for the year to net cash flows from operating activities:

30 JUN 2022 
$’000

30 JUN 2021 
$’000

Net profit for the year 367,480 611,239

ADJUSTMENTS

Net gain on fair value of investment properties (281,776) (523,329)

Loss/(gain) on fair value of derivatives 11,938 (1,966)

Change in deferred rent and lease incentives (9,859) (6,594)

Change in capitalised leasing fees 1,738 1,352

Borrowing cost amortisation 4,030 1,172

Goodwill impairment expense 10,501 -

CHANGES IN OPERATING ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

Increase in receivables (7,993) (1,031)

Increase in other assets (584) (58)

Increase in payables 16,454 2,882

Net cash generated by operating activities 111,929 83,667

Cash and cash equivalents comprise of cash on hand and cash in banks.

Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 30 June 2022

C Trust's assets and liabilities

160 NEWTON ROAD, WETHERILL PARK NSW
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D1 INTEREST IN MATERIAL SUBSIDIARIES

Recognition and measurement

(i) Business combination

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The cost of an acquisition is measured as the 
aggregate of the consideration transferred measured at acquisition date fair value and the amount of any non-controlling 
interests in the acquiree. For each business combination, the Trust elects whether to measure the non-controlling 
interests in the acquiree at fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. Acquisition-
related costs are expensed as incurred.

When the Trust acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification 
and designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the 
acquisition date.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, any previously held equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition date 
fair value and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the aggregate of the consideration transferred and the amount 
recognised for non-controlling interests, and any previous interest held, over the net identifiable assets acquired and 
liabilities assumed. After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses.

Goodwill is reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such 
indication exists, the asset's recoverable amount is estimated. An impairment loss is recognised whenever the carrying 
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognised directly in profit or loss. Refer to 
Note C4 for details of management's assessment.

(ii) Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Trust and entities controlled by the Trust. 
Control is achieved where the Trust is exposed to, or has rights to, the variable returns from its involvement with an entity 
and has the ability to affect these returns through its power over the entity.

The Trust accounts for business combinations using the acquisition method when control is transferred to the Trust. The 
consideration transferred in the acquisition is generally measured at fair value, as are the identifiable net assets acquired. 
When the Trust loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary, and any related 
non-controlling interests and other components of equity. Any resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss. Any 
interest retained in the former subsidiary is measured at fair value when control is lost.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income from the date on which control commences until the date on which control ceases.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies 
into line with those used by other members of the consolidated group. All intra-group transactions, balances, income and 
expenses are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 30 June 2022

D Trust structure

(iii) Subsidiaries

The consolidated financial statements include the assets, liabilities and results of Centuria Industrial REIT and the 
subsidiaries it controls. Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Trust in accordance with AASB 10. Control exists when 
an investor is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect 
those returns through its power over the investee. The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the financial 
report from the date that control commences until the date that control ceases.

The Trust uses the purchase method of accounting to account for the acquisition of subsidiaries. Intercompany 
transactions, balances and recognised gains on transactions between Trust entities are eliminated. Unrealised losses are 
also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of the impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of 
subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Trust.

EQUITY INTEREST 

NAME OF ENTITY
COUNTRY OF 
DOMICILE

CLASS OF  
UNITS

30 JUN 2022  
%

30 JUN 2021  
%

BIPT Preston No. 1 Sub Trust Australia Ordinary 100 100

BIPT Marple Ave Holding Trust Australia Ordinary 100 100

BIPT Marple Ave Sub Trust Australia Ordinary 100 100

BIPT Clarinda Rd Holding Trust Australia Ordinary 100 100

BIPT Clarinda Rd Sub Trust Australia Ordinary 100 100

BIPT Noble Park Holding Trust Australia Ordinary 100 100

BIPT Noble Park Sub Trust Australia Ordinary 100 100

BIPT Scrivener St Holding Trust Australia Ordinary 100 100

BIPT Scrivener St Sub Trust Australia Ordinary 100 100

Australian Industrial REIT Australia Ordinary 100 100

AIR Somerton Trust Australia Ordinary 100 100

AIR Wetherill Park Trust Australia Ordinary 100 100

AIR Glendening Trust Australia Ordinary 100 100

AIR Ingleburn Trust Australia Ordinary 100 100

AIR Ingleburn 2 Trust Australia Ordinary 100 100

AIR Ingleburn 3 Trust Australia Ordinary 100 100

AIR Eastern Creek Trust Australia Ordinary 100 100

AIR Enfield Trust Australia Ordinary 100 100

AIR Tullamarine Trust Australia Ordinary 100 100

AIR Thomastown Trust Australia Ordinary 100 100

AIR Henderson Trust Australia Ordinary 100 100

AIR Dandenong South Trust Australia Ordinary 100 100

AIR Bibra Lake Trust Australia Ordinary 100 100

AIR Glendening 2 Trust Australia Ordinary 100 100

AIR Erskine Park Trust Australia Ordinary 100 100
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EQUITY INTEREST 

NAME OF ENTITY
COUNTRY OF 
DOMICILE

CLASS OF  
UNITS

30 JUN 2022  
%

30 JUN 2021  
%

AIR ST1 Trust Australia Ordinary 100 100

CIP Sub Trust No. 1 Australia Ordinary 100 100

CIP Sub Trust No. 2 Australia Ordinary 100 100

CIP Sub Trust No. 3 Australia Ordinary 100 100

CIP Sub Trust No. 4 Australia Ordinary 100 100

CIP Sub Trust No. 5 Australia Ordinary 100 100

CIP Sub Trust No. 6 Australia Ordinary 100 100

CIP Sub Trust No. 7 Australia Ordinary 100 100

CIP Sub Trust No. 8 Australia Ordinary 100 100

CIP Sub Trust No. 9 Australia Ordinary 100 100

CIP Sub Trust No. 10 Australia Ordinary 100 100

CIP Sub Trust No. 11 Australia Ordinary 100 100

CIP Sub Trust No. 12 Australia Ordinary 100 -

CIP Sub Trust No. 13 Australia Ordinary 100 -

CIP Sub Trust No. 14 Australia Ordinary 100 -

CIP Sub Trust No. 15 Australia Ordinary 100 -

CIP Sub Trust No. 16 Australia Ordinary 100 -

CIP Sub Trust No. 17 Australia Ordinary 100 -

CIP Sub Trust No. 18 Australia Ordinary 100 -

CIP Sub Trust No. 19 Australia Ordinary 100 -

CIP Sub Trust No. 20 Australia Ordinary 100 -

CIP Sub Trust No. 21 Australia Ordinary 100 -

CIP Sub Trust No. 22 Australia Ordinary 100 -

CIP Sub Trust No. 23 Australia Ordinary 100 -

CIP Sub Trust No. 24 Australia Ordinary 100 -

CIP Sub Trust No. 25 Australia Ordinary 100 -

CIP Sub Trust No. 26 Australia Ordinary 100 -

CIP Sub Trust No. 27 Australia Ordinary 100 -

CIP Sub Trust No. 28 Australia Ordinary 100 -

CIP Sub Trust No. 29 Australia Ordinary 100 -

CIP Sub Trust No. 30 Australia Ordinary 100 -

CIP Sub Trust No. 31 Australia Ordinary 100 -

CIP Funding Pty Ltd Australia Ordinary 100 -

Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 30 June 2022

D Trust structure

D2 RELATED PARTIES

Key management personnel
The Trust does not employ personnel in its own right. However it is required to have an incorporated Responsible Entity to 
manage the activities of the Trust. The directors of the Responsible Entity are key management personnel of that entity 
and their names are:

Roger Dobson

Peter Done

Natalie Collins

Jennifer Cook Appointed 1 July 2021

Nicholas Collishaw Resigned 30 August 2021

No compensation is paid directly by the Trust to any of the directors or key management personnel of the Responsible Entity.

Key management personnel loan disclosures
The Trust has not made, guaranteed or secured, directly or indirectly, any loans to the key management personnel or their 
personally related entities at any time during the financial year.

Responsible entity fees and other transactions
The Responsible Entity is entitled to a management fee which is calculated at 0.65% of the gross value of assets held plus 
GST, in accordance with the Trust's constitution. The Responsible Entity has elected to charge 0.60% per annum.

The following fees were paid and/or payable to the Responsible Entity and its related parties from the Trust and all 
subsidiaries during the financial year:

30 JUN 2022 
$’000

30 JUN 2021 
$’000

Management fees 22,472 14,118

Leasing fees 2,425 767

Property management fees 1,977 1,652

Custodian fees 1,764 1,093

Facility management fees 1,228 964

Project management fees 873 815

Due diligence acquisition fees 625 375

31,364 19,784

At reporting date an amount of $3,347,802 (2021: $1,917,744) owing to the Responsible Entity and its related parties was 
included in trade and other payables. The payables are non-interest bearing with payment terms and conditions consistent 
with normal commercial practices.

All transactions with related parties are conducted on normal commercial terms and conditions. From time to time 
Centuria Property Funds No. 2 Limited, its directors or its director-related entities may buy or sell units in the Trust. These 
transactions are on the same terms and conditions as those entered into by other Trust investors.
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Related party investments held by the Trust
At 30 June 2022, the Trust did not hold any units in the related parties of the Responsible Entity (30 June 2021: nil).

Units in the Trust held by related parties
At 30 June 2022, the following related parties of the Responsible Entity hold units in the Trust:

CLOSING UNITS HELD CLOSING INTEREST HELD

30 June 2022

Centuria Capital No. 2 Industrial Fund 77,319,885 12.18% 

Centuria Capital No. 5 Fund 21,593,800 3.40% 

Centuria Property Funds No. 2 Limited 2,181,086 0.34% 

Centuria Growth Bond Fund 895,191 0.14% 

Centuria Balanced Fund 385,129 0.06%

Roger Dobson 50,703 0.01%

Simon Holt 6,535 -%

Jennifer Cook 5,729 -%

Natalie Collins 5,464 -%

102,443,522 16.13% 

30 June 2021

Centuria Capital No. 2 Industrial Fund 68,966,756 12.50% 

Centuria Capital No. 5 Fund 21,593,800 3.91% 

Centuria Property Funds No. 2 Limited 2,181,086 0.40% 

Centuria Growth Bond Fund 895,191 0.16% 

Jason Huljich 557,971 0.10%

Centuria Balanced Fund 485,879 0.09%

Roger Dobson 50,703 0.01%

Simon Holt 6,535 -%

Jennifer Cook 5,729 -%

94,743,650 17.17%

No other related parties of the Responsible Entity held units in the Trust.

Other transactions within the Trust
No director has entered into a material contract with the Trust since the end of the previous year and there were no 

material contracts involving directors’ interests subsisting at year end.

Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 30 June 2022

D Trust structure

D3 PARENT ENTITY DISCLOSURES

As at, and throughout the current and previous financial year, the parent entity of the Trust was CIP. The table below 
represents the stand alone financial position and performance of CIP. This table does not include the financial position and 
performance of its subsidiaries and the parent entity's investment in underlying subsidiaries are measuring at fair value. 
Accordingly, the amounts reflected above may be different from the consolidated financial statements.

FINANCIAL POSITION
30 JUN 2022 

$’000
30 JUN 2021 

$’000

ASSETS

Current assets 19,124 59,161

Non-current assets 2,819,179 3,032,994

Total assets 2,838,303 3,092,155

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities 40,541 36,580

Non-current liabilities 108,417 933,275

Total liabilities 148,958 969,855

Net assets 2,689,345 2,122,300

EQUITY

Issued capital 1,840,488 1,531,361

Retained earnings 848,857 590,939

Total equity 2,689,345 2,122,300

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

Profit for the year 367,480 611,239

Total comprehensive income for the year 367,480 611,239
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E1 AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

30 JUN 2022 
$’000

30 JUN 2021 
$’000

KPMG:

Audit and review of financials 330 218

Property due diligence services and advice 174 -

504 218

E2 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The directors of the Responsible Entity consider that the carrying amount of the financial assets and financial liabilities 
approximate their fair value in the financial statements with the exception of fixed rate borrowings. The carrying value of fixed 
rate borrowings is $450.0 million and the fair value is $416.2 million at 30 June 2022. All financial instruments are measured 
at amortised cost with the exception of the derivative financial instruments. Derivative financial instruments are measured at 
fair value and have a level 2 designation in the fair value hierarchy. There were no transfers between levels of the fair value 
hierarchy during the period.

Independent valuations are obtained from third parties to support the fair value measurement of financial instruments at each 
reporting date to meet the requirements of International Financial Reporting Standards.

(i) Valuation techniques

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities are determined as follows:

• The fair value of interest rate swaps are determined using a discounted cash flow analysis. The future cash flows 
are estimated based on forward interest rates (from observable yield curves at the end of the reporting period) and 
contracted interest rates, discounted at a rate that reflects the credit risk of various counterparties.

The Trust classifies fair value measurements using a fair value hierarchy that reflects the subjectivity of the inputs used in 
making the measurements. The fair value hierarchy has the following levels:

• Level 1: derived from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the Trust can 
access at the measurement date.

• Level 2: derived from inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, 
either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices).

• Level 3: derived from valuation techniques that include inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable 
market data (unobservable inputs).

The level in the fair value hierarchy within which the fair value measurement is categorised in its entirety is determined 
on the basis of the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement in its entirety. For this purpose, 
the significance of an input is assessed against the fair value measurement in its entirety. If a fair value measurement 
uses observable inputs that require significant adjustment based on unobservable inputs, that measurement is a level 
3 measurement. Assessing the significance of a particular input to the fair value measurement in its entirety requires 
judgement, considering factors specific to the asset or liability.

The determination of what constitutes ‘observable’ requires significant judgement by the Responsible Entity. The 
Responsible Entity considers observable data to be that market data that is readily available, regularly distributed or 
updated, reliable and verifiable, not proprietary, and provided by independent sources that are actively involved in the 
relevant market.

Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 30 June 2022

E Other notes

Capital management
The capital structure of the Trust consists of cash and cash equivalents and the proceeds from the issue of the units 
of the Trust.

The Trust has no restrictions or specific capital requirements on the application and redemption of units, other than 
the approval of the Responsible Entity.

The Trust's overall investment strategy remains unchanged from the prior year.

Financial risk management objectives
The Trust is exposed to a variety of financial risks as a result of its activities. These potential risks include market risk 
(interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Trust’s risk management and investment policies seek to minimise 
the potential adverse effects of these risks on the Trust’s financial performance.

Market risk
Market risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in 
market prices. The Trust’s activities expose it primarily to the financial risks of changes in interest rates. The Trust enters 
into derivative financial instruments to manage its exposure to interest rate risk and these include interest rate swaps 
that the Trust has entered into to mitigate the risk of rising interest rates.

There has been no change to the Trust’s exposure to market risks or the manner in which it manages and measures the 
risk from the previous year.

(i) Interest rate risk management
In respect of income-earning financial assets and interest-bearing financial liabilities, the following table indicates their 
effective interest rates at reporting date:

30 JUN 2022 30 JUN 2021

EFFECTIVE 
 INTEREST 

RATE
TOTAL  
$’000

EFFECTIVE 
 INTEREST 

RATE
TOTAL  
$’000

FINANCIAL ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents 0.01% 26,604 0.01% 105,543

 26,604  105,543

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

Borrowings - fixed (excluding borrowing costs) 3.00% 100,000 3.00% 100,000

Medium term note (A$MTN) - fixed (excluding borrowing costs) 3.03% 350,000 -% -

Borrowings - variable (excluding borrowing costs) 1.56% 927,200 1.47% 836,500

1,377,200 936,500
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ii) Interest rate sensitivity

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on the Trust’s exposure to interest rates at the reporting date 
and the stipulated change taking place at the beginning of the financial year and held constant throughout the reporting 
period, in the case of financial assets and financial liabilities that have variable interest rates.

At reporting date, if variable interest rates had been 100 (2021: 100) basis points ('bps') higher or lower and all other 
variables were held constant, the impact to the Trust would have been as follows:

VARIABLE  
+ / -

SENSITIVITY IMPACT

RATE INCREASE 
$’000

RATE DECREASE 
$’000

30 June 2022

Net (loss)/profit 100 bps (4,298) 5,174

(4,298) 5,174

30 June 2021

Net (loss)/profit 100 bps 5,033 (5,354)

5,033 (5,354)

The Trust’s sensitivity to interest rates calculated above is after taking into account the impact of interest rate changes on 
the interest rate swap fair values. The methods and assumptions used to prepare the sensitivity analysis have not changed 
during the year.

Credit risk
The Trust has adopted the policy of dealing with creditworthy counterparties and obtaining sufficient collateral or other 
security where appropriate, as a means of mitigating the financial risk of financial loss from default. The Trust’s exposure 
and the credit ratings of its counterparties are continuously monitored by the Responsible Entity.

At 30 June 2022, the main financial assets exposed to credit risk are trade receivables. There were no significant 
concentrations of credit risk to counterparties at 30 June 2022. Refer to Note C1 for details of trade receivables.

The credit risk on receivables is minimal because of the proven remittance history of the counterparties. Credit risk 
from balances with banks and financial institutions is managed by the Responsible Entity in accordance with the Trust's 
investment policy. Cash investments are made only with approved counterparties.

The carrying amounts of financial assets best represent the maximum credit risk exposure at the reporting date.

Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 30 June 2022

E Other notes

Liquidity risk
The following tables summarise the maturity profile of the Trust’s financial liabilities. The tables have been drawn up based 
on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Trust can be required to pay. 
The tables include both interest and principal cash flows:

EFFECTIVE 
INTEREST 

RATE

TOTAL 
PRINCIPAL 

AND INTEREST 
$’000

LESS 
THAN 1 

YEAR 
$’000

1 TO 5  
YEARS 
$’000

5+  
YEARS 
$’000

30 June 2022

Trade and other payables -% 74,490 74,490 - -

Borrowings 1.53% 1,505,338 30,050 1,017,423 457,865

Derivative financial instruments 2.10% (6,133) 9,685 (11,683) (4,135)

 1,573,695 114,225 1,005,740 453,730

30 June 2021

Trade and other payables -% 50,283 50,283 - -

Borrowings 1.49% 1,018,269 17,118 899,652 101,499

 1,068,552 67,401 899,652 101,499

The principal amounts included in the above borrowings is $1,377.2 million (2021: $936.5 million).

E3 EVENTS SUBSEQUENT TO REPORTING DATE

There are no other matters or circumstances which have arisen since the end of the financial year and the date 
of this report, in the opinion of the Responsible Entity, which significantly affect the operations of the Trust, the 
results of those operations, or the state of affairs of the Trust, in future financial years.

E4 ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 

The registered office and principal place of business of the Trust and the Responsible Entity are as follows:

Registered office:  
Level 41, Chifley Tower,  
2 Chifley Square 
SYDNEY NSW 2000

Principal place of business: 
Level 41, Chifley Tower,  
2 Chifley Square 
SYDNEY NSW 2000
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Directors’ declaration
For the year ended 30 June 2022

In the opinion of the Directors’ of Centuria Property Funds No. 2 Limited, the Responsible Entity of Centuria Industrial REIT 
(‘the Trust’):

(a)  the consolidated financial statements and notes set out on pages 44 to 79 are in accordance with the Corporations Act 

2001, including:

(i)  complying with Australian Accounting Standards, the Corporations Regulations 2001 and other mandatory 
professional reporting requirements, and

(ii)  giving a true and fair view of the Trust's financial position as at 30 June 2022 and of its performance for the 
financial year ended on that date, and

(b)  there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Trust will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due and payable.

Note A1 confirms that the consolidated financial statements also comply with International Financial Reporting Standards 
as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board.

The Directors have been given the declarations by the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer required by 
section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001.

This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of Directors.

 

Sydney  
4 August 2022

Roger Dobson

CHAIRMAN

Peter Done

DIRECTOR 

80      |  Centuria Industrial REIT – Annual Report 2022

95-105 DANDENONG HIGHWAY, DANDENONG SOUTH VIC

Centuria Industrial REIT – Annual Report 2022 |     81



Centuria Industrial REIT – Annual Report 2022 |     8382      |  Centuria Industrial REIT – Annual Report 2022

 

 

40 

 

 

KPMG, an Australian partnership and a member firm of the KPMG global organisation of independent member firms affiliated 

with KPMG International Limited, a private English company limited by guarantee. All rights reserved. The KPMG name and logo 

are trademarks used under license by the independent member firms of the KPMG global organisation. Liability limited by a 

scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation. 

 

Independent Auditor’s Report 
 

 

To the unitholders of Centuria Industrial REIT 

Opinion 

We have audited the Financial Report of 

Centuria Industrial REIT (the Fund). 

In our opinion, the accompanying 

Financial Report of the Fund is in 

accordance with the Corporations Act 

2001, including: 

• giving a true and fair view of the 

Group's financial position as at 30 June 

2022 and of its financial performance 

for the year ended on that date; and 

• complying with Australian Accounting 

Standards and the Corporations 

Regulations 2001. 

 

The Financial Report comprises:  

• Consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 June 

2022;  

• Consolidated statement of profit or loss and other 

comprehensive income, Consolidated statement of 

changes in equity, and Consolidated statement of cash 

flows for the year then ended; 

• Notes including a summary of significant accounting 

policies; and 

• Directors' Declaration. 

The Group consists of the Fund and the entities it 

controlled at the year-end or from time to time during the 

financial year. 

 

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. We believe that the audit 

evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the 

audit of the Financial Report section of our report. 

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001 and the ethical 

requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for 

Professional Accountants (including Independence Standards) (the Code) that are relevant to our audit of 

the Financial Report in Australia. We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with 

these requirements. 

Key Audit Matters 

Key Audit Matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our 

audit of the Financial Report of the current period. 

This matter was addressed in the context of our audit of the Financial report as a whole, and in forming our 

opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on this matter.
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Valuation of investment property (4,066.4m) 

Refer to Note C2 to the Financial Report 

The key audit matter How the matter was addressed in our audit 

The valuation of investment properties is a key 

audit matter as they are significant in value 

(being 98.0% of total assets) and contain 

assumptions with estimation uncertainty. 

The properties being valued at fair value 

increased the judgment applied by us when 

evaluating evidence available.  

The Group approached the uncertainty risk, 

including consideration of the recent economic 

uncertainties, using internal methodologies and 

through the use of external valuation experts.  

We focused on the significant forward-looking 

assumptions the Group applied in external and 

internal valuation models with a consideration 

to the impact of economic uncertainty 

including: 

• Discount rates: these are complicated in 

nature and differ due to the asset classes, 

geographies and characteristics of 

individual investment properties; 

• Capitalisation rates (cap rates): reflects the 

yield that an investor would look to recover 

their investment in a particular class of 

asset; and 

• Forecast cash flows: net market rent 

assumptions.  

In assessing this Key Audit Matter, we involved 

our real estate valuation specialists, who 

understand the Group’s investment profile and 

business, and the economic environment it 

operates in. 

We paid particular attention to knowledge and 

sources of information available regarding 

market conditions specific to year end. 

Our procedures included: 

• Understanding the Group’s process regarding 

the valuations of investment property, including 

specific considerations of the impact of recent 

changes in interest rates and inflation and the 

resulting valuation approach; 

 

• Assessing the Group’s methodologies used in 

the valuations of investment property for 

consistency with accounting standards and 

Group policies; 

 

• Assessing the scope, competence and 

objectivity of external experts engaged by the 

Group and internal valuers. 

Working with our real estate valuation specialists 

we: 

• Gaining an understanding of prevailing market 

conditions, including existence of market 

transactions, and 

 

• Performed a risk assessment of the investment 

property portfolio by assessing key assumptions 

and metrics including the capitalisation rate, 

discount rate, weighted average lease expiry and 

market rents to identify investment properties 

with significant valuation movements and 

outliers in key assumptions. 

For externally valued investment properties: 

• Taking into account the asset classes, 

geographies and characteristics of individual 

investment properties, we assessed the 

appropriateness of adopted discount and cap 

rates through comparison to market analysis 

published by industry experts, recent market 

transactions, other market data points available, 

inquiries with the Group and historical 

performance of the investment properties; 

 

• We also tested, on a sample basis, other key 

inputs to the investment property valuations 

such as net market rent, occupancy rate, lease 
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Other Information is financial and non-financial information in Centuria Industrial REIT’s annual reporting 

which is provided in addition to the Financial Report and the Auditor’s Report. The Directors of Centuria 

Property Funds No.2 Limited (the Responsible Entity) are responsible for the Other Information. 

The Other Information we obtained prior to the date of this Auditor’s Report was the Director’s Report, 

Corporate Governance Statement and Additional stock exchange Information. The Letter from the 

Chairman & Fund Manager, portfolio overview and portfolio profile are expected to be made available to us 

after the date of the Auditor’s Report. 

Our opinion on the Financial Report does not cover the Other Information and, accordingly, we do not and 

will not express an audit opinion or any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

terms, for consistency to existing lease 

contracts. 

• We assessed sources of information for what 

reasonable expectations existed at year end date 

versus those issues or observations emerging 

since year end, and their impact to the Group’s 

investment properties values; 

 

• Enquire with the external valuers on a sample 

basis to challenge the investment property 

valuation methodology and the assumptions 

applied in the external valuations. 

For internally valued investment properties:  

• Taking into account the asset classes, 

geographies and characteristics of individual 

investment properties, we assessed the 

appropriateness of adopted discount and cap 

rates through comparison to market analysis 

published by industry experts, recent market 

transactions, other market data points available, 

inquiries with the Group and historical 

performance of the investment properties; 

 

• Comparing the advice obtained from the external 

valuers on the weighted average change in 

capitalisation rates, including any outliers, to the 

capitalisation rates applied in the Directors’ 

internal valuations of investment properties 

 

For financial statement disclosure:  

 

• Assessing the disclosures in the financial report 

including checking the sensitivity analysis 

calculations, using our understanding obtained 

from our testing, against accounting standard 

requirements. This was considered in light of 

changes and economic uncertainty that existed 

at balance date and up until issuance of our audit 

report. 

 

  

Other Information 
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In connection with our audit of the Financial Report, our responsibility is to read the Other Information. In 

doing so, we consider whether the Other Information is materially inconsistent with the Financial Report or 

our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 

We are required to report if we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this Other Information, 

and based on the work we have performed on the Other Information that we obtained prior to the date of 

this Auditor’s Report we have nothing to report. 

Responsibilities of the Directors for the Financial Report 

The Directors are responsible for: 

• preparing the Financial Report that gives a true and fair view in accordance with Australian 

Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001 

• implementing necessary internal control to enable the preparation of a Financial Report that 

gives a true and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error 

• assessing the Group and Fund's ability to continue as a going concern and whether the use of 

the going concern basis of accounting is appropriate. This includes disclosing, as applicable, 

matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless they 

either intend to liquidate the Group  and Fund or to cease operations, or have no realistic 

alternative but to do so. 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the Financial Report 

Our objective is:  

• to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the Financial Report as a whole is free from 

material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; and  

• to issue an Auditor’s Report that includes our opinion.  

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 

accordance with Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it 

exists. 

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error. They are considered material if, individually or in the 

aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on 

the basis of the Financial Report. 

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the Financial Report is located at the Auditing 

and Assurance Standards Board website at: 

https://www.auasb.gov.au/admin/file/content102/c3/ar1_2020.pdf. This description forms part of our 

Auditor’s Report. 

  

 KPMG      Peter Zabaks 

      Partner 

      Sydney 

      4 August 2022 
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Corporate Governance Statement

The corporate governance statement for the Trust was last updated on  
9 September 2022 and is available on the Centuria website at  
centuria.com.au/centuria-capital/corporate/sustainability/governance/.

870 LORIMER STREET, PORT MELBOURNE VIC
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Additional ASX information
As at 24 July 2022

DISTRIBUTION OF UNITS

HOLDING NUMBER OF HOLDERS NUMBER OF UNITS PERCENTAGE OF TOTAL (%)

1 to 1,000 1,523 652,540 0.10

1,001 to 5,000 3,977 11,997,659 1.89

5,001 to 10,000 3,024 22,529,412 3.55

10,001 to 100,000 3,653 85,323,556 13.44

100,001 and over 135 514,427,468 81.02

12,312 634,930,635 100.00

SUBSTANTIAL UNITHOLDERS

NUMBER OF UNITS PERCENTAGE OF TOTAL (%)

Centuria Capital Group 102,375,091 16.12

The Vanguard Group 48,372,747 7.62

Blackrock Inc 38,410,975 6.05

State Street Corporation 32,145,027 5.07

221,303,840 34.86

VOTING RIGHTS

All units carry one vote per unit without restriction.
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TOP 20 UNITHOLDERS

NUMBER OF UNITS PERCENTAGE OF TOTAL (%)

HSBC CUSTODY NOMINEES (AUSTRALIA) LIMITED 135,209,825 21.30

J P MORGAN NOMINEES AUSTRALIA PTY LIMITED 110,935,822 17.47

CITICORP NOMINEES PTY LIMITED 56,473,826 8.89

CENTURIA INVESTMENT HOLDINGS PTY LIMITED 45,136,934 7.11

CENTURIA INVESTMENT HOLDINGS PTY LIMITED 32,182,951 5.07

NATIONAL NOMINEES LIMITED 30,540,053 4.81

CENTURIA INVESTMENT HOLDINGS PTY LIMITED 21,593,800 3.40

BNP PARIBAS NOMS PTY LTD 19,518,398 3.07

CITICORP NOMINEES PTY LIMITED 5,260,950 0.83

BNP PARIBAS NOMINEES PTY LTD 4,963,246 0.78

BNP PARIBAS NOMINEES PTY LED HUB24 CUSTODIAL SERV LTD 3,235,919 0.51

AUSTRALIAN EXECUTOR TRUSTEES LIMITED 3,059,403 0.48

NETWEALTH INVESTMENTS LIMITED 2,524,513 0.40

CHARTER HALL WHOLESALE MANAGEMENT LIMITED 2,500,000 0.39

CENTURIA PROPERTY FUNDS NO 2 LIMITED 2,181,086 0.34

BNP PARIBAS NOMINEES PTY LTD 2,090,970 0.33

BNP PARIBAS NOMS (NZ) LTD 1,944,113 0.31

ONE MANAGED INVESTMENT FUNDS LTD 1,800,000 0.28

ARTMAX INVESTMENTS LIMITED 1,441,299 0.23

HSBC CUSTODY NOMINEES (AUSTRALIA) LIMITED 1,401,834 0.22

483,994,942 76.22

Additional ASX information
As at 24 July 2022

Corporate directory

Contact us
Unitholder Inquiries 
Centuria Investor Services 
GPO Box 3993 
Sydney NSW 2000

T. 1800 182 257

Mail to
Centuria Capital Limited 
Level 41, Chifley Tower,  
2 Chifley Square 
SYDNEY NSW 2000

Centuria Head Office
Level 41, Chifley Tower,  
2 Chifley Square 
SYDNEY NSW 2000

T. (02) 8923 8923 
F. (02) 9460 2960

contactus@centuria.com.au

Group Chief Risk 
Officer and Company 
Secretary
Anna Kovarik

Level 41, Chifley Tower,  
2 Chifley Square 
SYDNEY NSW 2000

T. (02) 8923 8923 
F. (02) 9460 2960

Centuria Property Funds No. 2 Limited (ABN 38 133 363 185, AFSL 340304) (‘CPF2L’) is Responsible Entity of the Centuria Industrial 
REIT (ARSN 099 680 252) (‘CIP’).

This report has been prepared for general information purposes only. It is not a product disclosure statement, pathfinder document or 
any other disclosure document for the purposes of the Corporations Act and has not been, and is not required to be, lodged with the 
Australian Securities & Investments Commission.

The information contained in this report does not constitute financial product advice. Before making an investment decision, the recipient 
should consider its own financial situation, objectives and needs, and conduct its own independent investigation and assessment of 
the contents of this report, including obtaining investment, legal, tax, accounting and such other advice as it considers necessary or 
appropriate.

This report may contain forward-looking statements, guidance, forecasts, estimates, prospects, projections or statements in relation 
to future matters (‘Forward Statements’). Forward Statements can generally be identified by the use of forward looking words such 
as “anticipate”, “estimates”, “will”, “should”, “could”, “may”, “expects”, “plans”, “forecast”, “target” or similar expressions. Forward 
Statements including indications, guidance or outlook on future revenues, distributions or financial position and performance or return 
or growth in underlying investments are provided as a general guide only and should not be relied upon as an indication or guarantee of 
future performance. Past performance is also not a reliable indicator of future performance.

Opt in to electronic Annual Report
If you would prefer to receive this digitally, you can opt in by emailing CIP.Enquiry@CenturiaInvestor.com.au and requesting to 
receive the annual report via email. We recommend using your personal email address. Not only will you be helping the environment, 
you will also help reduce costs and increase profitability for all unitholders in the fund. You can update your email, or change your 
annual report delivery method back to post at any time by emailing CIP.Enquiry@CenturiaInvestor.com.au with your request.

If you have any questions, please contact Centuria Investor Services on 1800 182 257.

Disclaimer
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